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e Summary Financial Information

MEEMHRE
Year Ended 31 March EZ=F=+—-HILEE
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
8 3 —ETNE “TENF —T-%F “E--F
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
FEL THT THT T TET
Revenue gy 983,944 1,485,054 1,252,210 1,319,089 2,217,382
Gross profit ER 237,380 559,165 627,102 623,048 1,021,453
Profit before tax B % A 142,262 480,439 502,425 483,586 754,990
Profit for the year attributable ADAER
to ordinary equity holders BaBBEA
of the Company [EIEFETE 111,334 399,724 415,122 396,149 585,292
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) &REAZF| () 1237 44.41 46.12 33.18 49.18
Non-current assets ERBEE 33,658 19,740 20,166 23,548 28,942
Current assets mEAE 291,009 780,552 393,162 1,623,493 1,971,540
Current liabilities nBafE 212,954 292,615 157,109 207,217 349,822
Non-current liabilities EnBak 10,970 - - 250 459
Net assets BEFE 100,743 507,677 256,219 1,439,574 1,650,201
Note: Wi -
The results of the Group for the financial years ended 31 March AREBHE_TETLFR_TENF=ZA=1+—
2007 and 2008 and the statement of financial position items of AR FEFENEEURAEBRR_ZTLFR
the Group as at 31 March 2007 and 2008 are extracted from the T N\FZA=+—BOHBERRERER - HiE
Company’s prospectus dated 30 March 2009 (the “Prospectus”). HE_ETENFZAZTHFENARRBRE

BOBEERD -
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Yongfq Jiang!"iu - :‘ig. ,é] } 'f@] @ %}{

A new high-end “soy flavor type” baijiu liquor, Yongfu
Jiangjiu is unique in various jiangjiu liquor products
Prestige Wine Products y
Selected from different countries | , cnareau
SimaRD
Fai!ar-étm[_l._r_qn__

|

RTEFF > 2FEXER
LR A DA BENBRAR K

Wouliangye
Wauliangye is a typical feature of “strong flavor type” baijiu liquor

— kA >E ETE X mird#k F421573
B 7 % o 3%

National Cellar 1573

Originated from 1573 liquor cellar units, a Key Cultural
Relics under the State-level Protection

APEEFHOBE2E  RARBBR

STEHBS AT BIE R R BRI D B A50F R

40 Bh ‘:::(-/,’,J\: R T 3
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Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine

It is the originator of “fresh flavor type” baijiu liquor. Both “Classic Guocang -c___£ il BN fa—_‘“ o I 3373 ‘E — X =F ph T'I N BEE
Fen Wine"” series and “Qinghua Fen Wine" series, which are solely distributed 8 )I‘ Q% f?:— = jgf; ﬂ re A& — ‘5 “F S‘J A= A E'l‘ i
by Silver Base Group, possesses respectively a liquor age of 50 year and 40 3 .
year Guizhou Yaxi Liquor

Guizhou Yaxi is a mixed flavor type baijiu liquor
with a long history of over 200 years
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& Distribution Network
KBS

EXTENSIVE DISTRIBUTION NETWORK

“Tier System” to Manage the Distribution
Network Effectively and Efficiently
MADRFNERNS M1 EREEHARK

LA ERF
o

/%@@
Stlver
@[r@uus
Diverstiiac
Procluct Mix
ﬁﬁ‘g‘% 5 Channels of Distribution to Fully
Penetrate into the China Market
7 & ERIEKHERETHBEYE TS
k¥ g
@@\7 o Distrlo" &
®
2 Q0 S
Sk Thes ®“§@@ Wé‘\ Sﬁ}J%ermarkets

W\ Hotels & Restaurants
¥ OBERES

w\ Liquor & Cigarette Specialty Stores
¥ OBEREEEHEE

W\ Group Purchases
i mm

w\ Entertainments
ae

¥ RGOSR

] 4 Silver Base Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011




Distribution Network <
RiERm 7

IMAGE STORE NETWORK FRJE#H &
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Image Stores/
Sele Unfits
BREBESE/
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Types of Image Store
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Wi‘\ 68% & 45% Wuliangye Image Store
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES

Mr. Liang Guoxing (Chairman) BB LA (FE)
Mr. Guan Huanfei B w3 A&

Mr. Wang Jindong FERLE

Mr. Joseph Marian Laurence Ozorio 1A 3 HE o

Ms. Cheung Mei Sze EERBLL
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS FHITES
Mr. Wu Jie Si HEDLE

Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny BoR A 95 5T A

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BIFEHITES

Mr. Hung Sui Kwan 3t I 4 A

Mr. Ma Lishan Bl A

Mr. Zhang Min KRR AE
COMPANY SECRETARY NEIME

Ms. Fok Pik Yi Carol Acis, ACs, cmiILT BB E T Aas Acs, amiLT
AUDIT COMMITTEE BEREES
Mr. Hung Sui Kwan (Chairman) M A (/)
Mr. Ma Lishan RvAlID e

Mr. Zhang Min wERESE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FWEES
Mr. Liang Guoxing (Chairman) BB LA (FE)
Mr. Guan Huanfei xR IESL &

Mr. Hung Sui Kwan 3T 3 o A

Mr. Ma Lishan Bl A

Mr. Zhang Min wREREE
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COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
Mr. Hung Sui Kwan (Chairman)

Mr. Ma Lishan

Mr. Zhang Min

Mr. Guan Huanfei

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Guan Huanfei

Ms. Fok Pik Yi Carol Acis, ACs, cMILT

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
18th Floor

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street

Central, Hong Kong

COMPLIANCE ADVISER
Sun Hung Kai International Limited
42nd Floor

The Lee Gardens

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman lIslands
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HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

27th Floor

The Sun’s Group Centre

200 Gloucester Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC

OF CHINA

Rooms 5709-5716, 57th Floor

Office Tower

Shun Hing Square Di Wang Commercial Centre
5002 Shen Nan Dong Road

Shenzhen, PRC

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 609

Grand Cayman KY1-1107

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011
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Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited

Butterfield House

68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 609
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PRINCIPAL BANKS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

STOCK CODE
886

WEBSITE OF THE COMPANY

www.silverbasegroup.com

(information on the website does not form part of this

annual report)
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& Chairman’s Statement

/

ETEHRES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Silver Base Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
| am pleased to present the annual report of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2011.

China’s strong economic growth

Drives up demand for baijiu liquors

China recorded a GDP growth of 10.3% in 2010, with
continuous increase in domestic demand being a major
contributing factor. Further increased demand for
high-end liquor products is an important driver of the

expanding domestic consumption.

FEAIRIR

AANERRBEEEERER2A (XA
ANEFS(EFE))  MAREARARAR
HftBEAm (GBI AKEDBEE-FT——F
=RA=1t—BLlZFH-

B AT R S
TERBRK LB
—T-TEREBAREERMEGDPIERE
103%  NEBERHFBBEACHLTRETE
ZER RRBRERNTIE—S LA
REANBME T HENER -

SEXRREIREE

Mr. Liang Guoxing, the Group’s Chairman




In 2010, sales of baijiu liquors of various grades continued
to rise. Due to insufficient supply, high prices and
increasing brand recognition, high-end baijiu liquors are
regarded as luxury goods and symbols of status in China.
Sales of baijiu liquors were so remarkable that shortages
occurred. According to research reports, sales of high-end
baijiu liquors in China in 2010 amounted to over RMB200
billion. It is estimated that sales of high-end baijiu liquors
in China in the coming few years will grow at a compound
rate of 25%.

As the distributor of various Chinese high-end baijiu
liquors brands, the Group benefits from the prosperous
development of the China baijiu liquors market as well as
the surging prices of high-end baijiu liquors. As a result,
the Group recorded a surge in revenue in the past fiscal
year. For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group's
revenue amounted to HK$2.22 billion. Profit attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the Company amounted to
HK$0.59 billion and basic earnings per ordinary share
amounted to HK$0.4918. To reward the support of the
shareholders (the “Shareholders”) of the Company to the
Group, the Board has recommended the payment of a
final dividend of HK$0.319 per ordinary share. Together
with the interim dividend of HK$0.169 per ordinary share,
the Group will pay an aggregate of dividend of HK$0.488
per ordinary share in the whole year, with dividend payout

ratio of approximately 99.2%.

Chairman’s Statement &
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Actively expanding baijiu series

Achieving product diversification

The Chinese baijiu liquors market has experienced strong
growth in both production and sales in 2010 which
was significantly higher than that of the country’s GDP
growth. The Group continued to uphold strong sales of
the premium baijiu liquors series, Wuliangye. Meanwhile,
the Group officially launched Yongfu Jiangjiu and National
Cellar 1573 with 43% alcohol content in September
2010 to further enrich its product portfolio and boost its
revenue. The products have earned high acclaims from
market and resulted in encouraging sales. The Group is
now developing more new sales and distribution channels

for these two product series.

The baijiu liquors product line has been enhanced by the
addition of a long-established brand — Guizhou Yaxi baijiu
liquors with 38% and 52% alcohol content. In May 2011,
the Group entered into a sales and distribution agreement
with Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine Sales Co. Ltd. and
obtain the sole worldwide distribution right of the 40-
year Qinghua Fen Wine with 55% alcohol content and
the Classic Guocang Fen Wine with 55% alcohol content.
The Group's baijiu liquors product portfolio continued to
expand to include all flavor types and is achieving product
diversification, which further strengthened the leading

position of the Group in Chinese baijiu liquors market.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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Stable development of foreign liquors business

Steady growth of customer base

Apart from actively expanding its baijiu liquors business,
the Group also achieved stable growth in its foreign
liqguors business. In recent years, Chinese red wine
consumer market has shown strong demand for low-end
as well as high-end and premium brands wine. Taking
a customer-oriented approach, the Group has built up
partnerships with a number of famous wine chateaus in
France, their agencies and wine producers from other
countries, and established a high quality customer base
within a short period of time. The products have been
highly appreciated by both consumers and customers. We
are confident that sales of foreign liquor products will

become another growth driver for the Group in the future.

Deepening and expanding sales network

Accomplishing economy of scale

To further expand the liquor business, the Group
continued to deepen its sales channels by establishing
offices in various provinces and cities in China, in
order to strengthen sales services and management of
sales channels so as to accelerate growth in sales and
profitability. At the same time, we are taking steps
to establish and strengthen the image store network,
including two operational models, namely the self-owned
operation Wine Kingdom image stores and the Wuliangye
image stores. As at 31 March 2011, the Group has
opened more than 250 Wuliangye image stores and Wine
Kingdom image stores. Both are contributing significantly

to the sales of the Group.
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Actively constructing e-commerce platform

Developing diversified sales channels

Moreover, to further expand sales channels and promptly
respond to market demand, the Group has established an
e-commerce team to speed up the development of the
e-commerce platform. Work in this area has progressed
satisfactorily. To cater to the related logistics demands for
e-commerce, the Group has set up Wine Kingdom as the
product delivery and logistics platform for its e-commerce
business, to enable comprehensive coverage of its logistics
network in China. The e-commerce platform is expected to

commence operation in the fourth quarter of 2011.

PROSPECTS
Seizing enormous business opportunities
in Chinese liquor market

Maintaining and consolidating leading market
position

China’'s economic development is undergoing an
important strategic phase of opportunities. The next
three to five years will be a crucial period for the new
development of the Group. The Group will actively develop
high-end products which can continuously drive up market
demands. It will also further develop and categorise its
high-end baijiu series with distinguishable products being
introduced to the market in batches and tiers. The Group
will also seize the opportunities to distribute other high-
end products, in order to consolidate and enhance its
market leading position. The Group has four flavor type
baijiu products including strong flavor type, soy flavor
type, fresh flavor type and mixed flavor type. Enjoying
strong customer loyalty and market demand, sales of
Wuliangye will continue to maintain significant growth.

The Group's marketing efforts will focus on increasing

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011
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market coverage and penetration rate so as to develop
Yongfu Jiangjiu series as a major growth product. The
Group will also utilise its strong market penetration and
extensive sales network to aggressively promote the
National Cellar 1573 series with 43% alcohol content, the
Yaxi baijiu series and the Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine to
make them become the Group’s new sources of income, in

order to fulfill different levels of consumption preferences.

The Group continues to be optimistic about the market
potential of foreign liquor and will continue to expand the
sales and marketing team of its foreign liquor division, to
develop products and sales strategies that correspond to
market demand and further increase its contribution to the

Group’s revenues.

Promoting downward sales and marketing
system

Enhancing direct control of downstream
channels

To meet consumer demands in different regions, in the
coming few years the Group will further promote and
penetrate into downward sales and marketing system
in China. It will gradually develop provincial marketing
units into city- and county-level units; strengthen the mix,
scale, efficiency and direct control of sales channels. The
Group will strive to expand its sub-distributor channels
and number of point of sales in the provinces and cities.
It will also seize market pace to expand its image stores to
other Chinese cities, counties and towns. Provincial offices
will be developed into independent companies. The Group
will also strengthen its incentive mechanism to improve its

sales and marketing capabilities.
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Expanding new business

Diversifying sources of income

In order to optimise the product structure, establish
diversified product portfolio and fully utilise its
comprehensive distribution network, the Group will
continue to introduce new products to diversify sources
of income, and strive to offer more quality products to
consumers in China. For the cigarette business, the Group
will continue to maintain a stable cigarette business and
consolidate sales proportion of its non-alcoholic beverage

business.

Active promotion of a modernised management
Continuous improvement of operation efficiency
In the new financial year, the Group aims to optimise
processes and improve efficiency by focusing on
distribution and sales. We will increase our efforts in
development of information technology, clarify monitoring
standards of all operation chains, optimise and improve
logistics management in order to establish a modern sales
and marketing management system that responds quickly
to the market and seamlessly integrates front- and back-
end businesses. In the coming year, the Group will further
strengthen performance assessment of each business unit
in order to increase the teams’ and staff's contributions
to the Group. It will continue to enhance staff training
to improve professionalism and service capability so as to
lay a solid foundation for the Group’s long-term business

development.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011
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CONCLUSION

The Group believes that product diversification and further
promotion of downward sales and marketing system are
essential to the future growth of the Group. The Group
will continue to enhance its product portfolio to further
consolidate its leading position in the wine and liquor
market in China. Through establishing more systematic
sales network and obtaining distribution rights of more
premium products, the Group is able to increase its
profitability and market value. The Group will actively
integrate its business chains in its pursuit to become a

comprehensive brand operator.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to
express my deepest gratitude to the Shareholders, business
partners and customers for their continuous support to
the Group. | would also like to thank all the staff for
their hard work and contributions. | will work hard with
our fellow members to enable the Group to reach new
heights, thereby creating a higher market value for the

Shareholders.

Liang Guoxing
Chairman
13 June 2011
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group recorded
a total revenue of approximately HK$2,217.4 million
(2010: approximately HK$1,319.1 million), representing an
increase of approximately 68.1% compared to last year.
The overall gross profit of the Group was approximately
HK$1,021.5 million (2010: approximately HK$623.0
million), representing an increase of approximately
63.9% compared to last year. The profit attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the Company increased by
approximately 47.7% to approximately HK$585.3 million
(2010: approximately HK$396.1 million). Basic earning per
share were HK$0.4918 (2010: HK$0.3318). Gross profit
margin and net profit margin were approximately 46.1%
and 26.4% respectively (2010: approximately 47.2% and
30.0% respectively).

Revenue derived from the market in the People Republic
of China (the “PRC") accounted for approximately 65.6%
(2010: approximately 44.2%) of the Group's total revenue
for the year ended 31 March 2011 while revenue derived
from the international market accounted for approximately
34.4% (2010: approximately 55.8%) of the Group's total
revenue. This shows that the PRC market has gradually

become the primary market of the Group.

Baijiu Business

The Chinese baijiu market experienced strong growth
in 2010, particularly the high-end and premium baijiu
markets, which resulted in shortage of supply and surging
prices. In 2010, prices for the Group’s premium baijiu
Wauliangye Liquor Series products raised by 15%-20%
on average with strong sales remained. As the Group's
baijiu product offerings become more diversified, the
revenue proportion of Wuliangye Liquor Series products
has decreased. For the year ended 31 March 2011, sales of
Wauliangye Liquor Series products accounted for 73.1% of

the Group's revenue.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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In March 2010, the Group obtained the 15-year global
exclusive distribution rights for Yongfu Jiangjiu, a “soy
flavor type” of Chinese baijiu under Wuliangye Group. In
September 2010, the top-end product of Yongfu Jiangjiu
Series “Laojiang” was officially launched. According to
the announcement by Wuliangye Group, the maximum
annual production capacity of Yongfu Jiangjiu is up to
27,000 tons. As its global exclusive distributor, the Group
has sufficient supply which can provide a solid foundation
for future sales growth. Yongfu Jiangjiu is also a strategic
product of Wuliangye Group, possessing characteristics
of high-born, authentic vintage liquor. Promoted by its
primetime television advertisement on China Central
Television (CCTV) by Wuliange Group and supported by
further expansion of the Group’s distribution network,
Yongfu Jiangjiu received overwhelming response and has
been highly appreciated by the market. Currently, the
Group has launched the 10-year Jiangjiu and Laojiang of
Yongfu Jiangjiu Series, and is actively developing new sales
channels. It is expected that Yongfu lJiangjiu is able to

achieve its preset yearly sales target.

In March 2010, the Group obtained the 10-year sole
distribution rights in the PRC for National Cellar 1573
baijiu with 43% alcohol content. The product was
launched in September 2010 and has since been met
with wide acclaims. Luzhou Laojiao Co., Ltd. (“Luzhou
Laojiao"”) is one of the top ten baijiu brewing groups in the
PRC. Luzhou Laojiao is highly impressed by the Group’s
accomplishments in sales and marketing strategies,
promotion activities and channel development. As a result,
the Group was awarded “The Best Strategic Partner” for

2010 by Luzhou Laojiao.
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In September 2010, the Group successfully obtained
distribution rights of Guizhou Yaxi baijiu series with
38% and 52% alcohol content. As a high quality mid-
end baijiu liquor, Yaxi baijiu product offers a mixed flavor
that is rarely seen among baijiu liquor, making it a highly
recognised brand in the market. Currently, the Group
has commenced works to build up customer base for
Yaxi baijiu series. With expanded production capacity and
increased production volume, the Group will be able to

accelerate its pace in entering the mid-end baijiu market.

Moreover, the Group entered into a distribution
agreement with Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine Sales
Co., Ltd. in May 2011 and obtained the sole worldwide
distribution right for the 40-year Qinghua Fen Wine with
55% alcohol content and the Classic Guocang Fen Wine
with 55% alcohol content. Launch of these products will
further enrich the Group’s baijiu product portfolio and

consolidate its leading position in the PRC baijiu market.

Foreign Liquor Business

The PRC is now one of the major wine markets in the
world. As the spending power and living standard of
Chinese citizens increase, market demand for wines is on
the rise. There is enormous growth potential in foreign
liqguor market in the PRC. Owing to the vast amount of
foreign liquor products in the PRC, the Group adjusted
its product strategies in response to market demand and
defined a clear market positioning. With the efforts of the
professional foreign liquor division, the Group will seize
market trends to determine its product and sales strategies

to fulfill the needs of specific customer groups.

Last year, the Group continued to build up partnerships
with a number of famous chateaus in France, their
agencies and wine producers from other countries, and
established a high quality customer base. Supported by a
market with great potential and the Group’s new product
strategies, it is expected that foreign liquor products will

be another strong growth driver for the Group.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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Image Chained-Store and E-Commerce Business
To further expand the liquor business, the Group
continued to deepen its sales channels during the year
by establishing offices in various provinces and cities
in the PRC, in order to strengthen sales services and
management of sales channels. Moreover, the Group
continued to establish and strengthen the image store
network in the PRC by opening self-owned operation
Wine Kingdom in most of the first-tier to third-tier cities
in the PRC. It targets at serving the vast and expanding
high-end corporate and group purchase market to form
a nationwide chained sales platform. Meanwhile, the
Group has authorised distributors in various provinces
and cities to open specialty stores for Wuliangye with
68% and 45% alcohol content, in order to strengthen
consumers’ confidence on product quality and enhance
market recognition. As at 31 March 2011, the Group has
opened more than 250 Wine Kingdom image stores and

Wuliangye image stores.

In order to further expand sales channels and promptly
respond to market demand, the Group has established
an e-commerce team to speed up the development of
the e-commerce platform. To cater to the related logistics
demands for e-commerce, the Group plans to make use
of the Wine Kingdom image store network as product
delivery and logistics platform for its e-commerce business.
The e-commerce platform is expected to commence
operation in the fourth quarter of 2011, which creates
synergy with the Group’s image store network to further

strengthen sales of the Group.
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, demand for high-end Chinese baijiu
and market shares of jiangjiu will continue to grow. As
a premium baijiu product in the market, Wuliangye will
benefit from its strong market recognition and customer
loyalty, resulting in significant growth in sales. The
Group will devote its efforts to promote the Yongfu
Jiangjiu Series and to make it as one of its major strategic
products and growth drivers in the future. In addition,
the Group will continue to promote other high-end and
premium baijiu liquor products, including the newly signed
Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine. It will also seize business
opportunities for foreign liquor in the PRC and develop
product and sales strategies that correspond to market
trends, so as to achieve diversified product portfolio and

increase source of income.

To penetrate the business into the PRC and to meet
consumer demands in different regions, the Group will
actively promote and penetrate into downward sales
and marketing system. It will further develop city-level
marketing units into country-level units in the coming two
to three years. It will also expand its low-end to mid-end
product lines to cater to diversified customers’ demands
from the mass market. The Group will also actively
increase the number of Wine Kingdom image stores,
Wuliangye image stores and National Cellar 1573 image
stores to improve penetration and operational efficiency of
its sales and marketing network in cities and towns in the
PRC.

To achieve product diversification and enrich product
structure, the Group will continue to look for new business
opportunities and actively develop new products to expand
source of income. The Group will continue to maintain the
stability of cigarette business and increase sales proportion

of its non-alcoholic beverages business.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Sales and Gross Profit

The Group’s revenue mainly derived from sales of high-end
liquors and cigarettes. For the financial year 2011, the
Group's total revenue was HK$2,217.4 million, while
the Group’s total revenue for the financial year 2010
was HK$1,319.1 million. The total revenue of the Group
for the financial year 2011 grew by 68.1% over that of
last year, mainly due to the continuing keen demand
of high-end baijiu in the PRC, the increase in products
distributed by the Group and expansion of sales channel.
The overall gross profit of the Group for the financial year
2011 was HK$1,021.5 million grew up by 63.9% (for the
financial year 2010: HK$623.0 million).

The Group’s revenue derived from the distribution of
liquors represented approximately 96.9% of the total
revenue for the financial year 2011 and approximately
95.8% of the revenue for the financial year 2010.
Accordingly, the revenue derived from the distribution of
cigarettes represented approximately 3.1% of the total
revenue for the financial year 2011 and approximately
4.2% for the financial year 2010.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains amounted to HK$3.8 million
for the financial year 2011 (for the financial year 2010:
HK$31.5 million).

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The selling and distribution expenses represented
approximately 9.2% of the revenue of the Group for the
financial year 2011. The expenses increased to HK$203.0
million for the financial year 2011 (for the financial year
2010: HK$117.0 million) mainly as a result of an increase
in staff cost for sales as well as channel development,
marketing and promotion expenses in order to further
expand and deepen the Group’s network and channel

coverage in the PRC.
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Administrative Expenses

Administration expenses represented 3.0% of the Group’s
revenue for the financial year 2011. The expenses
increased to HK$67.3 million for the financial year 2011
(for the financial year 2010: HK$53.0 million) mainly
attributable to the increase in listing fees in respect of the
Company’s initial public offer (“IPO”) launched in March
20009.

Tax Expenses

The effective tax rate changed from approximately 18.1%
for the financial year 2010 to approximately 22.5% for the
financial year 2011 which was in line with the fact that
the Group has have higher portion of the sales derived
from the PRC market for the financial year 2011 than
that of the financial year 2010. Profit derived from the
international market is subject to Hong Kong profits tax
at a rate of 16.5% for the financial year 2011 (for the
financial year 2010:16.5%) while the profit generated
from the PRC market is subject to the PRC enterprise
income tax rate at a rate of 20%, 22% and 24% for the

calendar years 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively.

Net Profit for the Year

For the financial year 2011, the Group, with an aim of
solidifying its future growth foundation, has strategically
increased the managerial resources and expenses in order
to expand and deepen its network and channel coverage
in the PRC, and the results have been satisfactory. The
net profit after tax for the year was increased by 47.7%
to HK$585.3 million for the financial year 2011 (for the
financial year 2010: HK$396.1 million). The Group believes
that such moves would exert a positive and prolonged
influence.

Dividends

On 26 November 2010, the Directors declared interim
dividends of HK$201.1 million representing HK$0.169 per
ordinary share of the Company to the Shareholders. The
interim dividends were fully paid during the financial year
2011.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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The Directors proposed to declare final dividends of
HK$379.6 million representing HK$0.319 per ordinary
share of the Company to the Shareholders.

The proposed final dividend plus interim dividend
represent a total dividend payout ratio of approximately
99.2%.

Trade and Bills Receivables

Generally, customers are obliged to settle payment in cash
or promissory notes endorsed by reputable banks before
the goods were delivered. The Group also grants a credit
period of up to 90 days to some long-term or reliable
customers except for certain identified major customers
where longer credit terms may be granted upon approval
by the credit control team and management of the
Group. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables.

As at 31 March 2011, the trade and bills receivables were
HK$711.0 million (as at 31 March 2010: HK$43.3 million).
The trade and bills receivables increased as there were
more promissory notes which have not yet been matured
at the year end date and therefore, those respective
trade receivables, although secured by promissory notes,
were still treated as unsettled at the financial year end.
Approximately 92.2% of the trade receivables are within
two months as at 31 March 2011.
impairment for the trade receivable is necessary as the

No provision for

outstanding debts are considered to be recoverable.

Trade Payables

The trade payables were mainly for purchasing (i)
Wouliangye Liquor Series distributed for the international
market, the settlement of which was by way of letter of
credit, and (ii) packaging materials for the production of
Wouliangye Liquor Series.

As at 31 March 2011, the trade payable was HK$0.5
million (as at 31 March 2010: HK$27.1 million). The trade
payables decreased as the Group settled the majority of
the outstanding trade debts prior to the financial year end
of 2011 than that of the financial year 2010.
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Inventories

The Group generally maintain its inventories at certain
acceptable level to meet the seasonal, market and other
commercial needs.

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s inventories were
HK$480.3 million (as at 31 March 2010: HK$314.6
million). The increase in inventories was primarily due to
(i) more supply of Wuliangye Liquor Series to the Group
prior to the financial year end date of 2011; (ii) more
supply of new liquor series to the Group; and (i) the
Group's strategy to pipe up the stock level during the low
season in order to meet with the keen demand in the high
season with better prices.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s working capital was healthy and positive
during the year under review. As at 31 March 2011, the
Group had cash and cash balances of HK$339.3 million
(as at 31 March 2010: HK$977.7 million). As at 31 March
2011, the Group’s net current assets were HK$1,621.7
million (as at 31 March 2010: HK$1,416.3 million).

Capital Structure of the Group

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s banking facilities in
terms of trust receipt loans of HK$62.9 million (as at
31 March 2010: HK$96.8 million) were secured by the
investment property of the Group with a net book value
of HK$7,548,000 (as at 31 March 2010: HK$7,757,000)
and were backed up by a corporate guarantee provided
by the Company. The trust receipt loan as at 31 March
2011 were denominated in United States dollars and were
interest-free within a credit period of 60 to 90 days and
bore interest charged at the Hong Kong dollar/applicable
currencies best lending rate minus 1% per annum or the
bank’s prevailing funding cost, whichever is higher, after
the credit period. All trust receipt loans were fully settled

within the credit period.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions
are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. Revenue derived and operating expenses
incurred by the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are mainly
denominated in Renminbi. The Directors consider that a
reasonably possible annual change of 5% to 10% in the
exchange rate between Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi
would have no material impact on the Group’s results
and therefore hedging through the use of derivative

instruments is considered unnecessary.

The funding and treasury policies of the Group are
centrally managed and controlled by the senior
management in Hong Kong. The Group’s financing
activities are managed centrally by maintaining an
adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to finance
the Group’s operations. The Group also ensures the
availability of the bank credit facilities to address any short
term funding requirements. The Group’s cash and bank

balances are placed with reputable financial institutions.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by the total adjusted equity plus net
debt. Net debt is calculated as the sum of interest-bearing
bank borrowings, trade and bills payables and other
payables less cash and bank balances. Capital represents
equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company.
The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a
reasonable level. While there was a net asset position as at
31 March 2011, the calculation of the gearing ratio is not

meaningful.
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Employment and Remuneration Policy

The Group had a total work force of 745 employees
as at 31 March 2011 (as at 31 March 2010: 318
employees). The Group has implemented the remuneration
policy, bonus and share option schemes based on the
achievements and performance of employees. The Group
has also participated in the mandatory provident fund
scheme in Hong Kong and the state managed retirement
benefit scheme in the PRC. The Group continues to
provide training courses for its staff to enable them to
achieve self-improvement and to enhance their skill and
knowledge.

Share Option Scheme

On 20 February 2009, the Company adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the growth of the Group.
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include,
but not limited to, employees, Directors and any other
eligible persons. Up to 31 March 2011, no share option
has been granted or agreed to be granted to any person

under the Scheme.

Use of Proceeds from IPO

On 8 April 2009, the Company was successfully listed on
“Stock
Exchange”) with net proceeds of approximately HK$927.5

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

million.

As stated in the Prospectus, approximately 65% of the net
proceeds is intended to be used for business development,
approximately 25% is intended to be used for increasing
inventory levels and approximately 10% is intended to be
used for the general working capital. As at the date of this
report, there are no material changes to the plan. (Details
of the use of proceeds from IPO are set out in the “Report

of the Directors”).

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liang Guoxing, aged 45, was appointed on
12 September 2007, is the founder and chairman of the
Group. Mr. Liang is also the chairman of remuneration
committee of the Company and a director of others
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Liang is primarily
responsible for the overall corporate strategies, planning
and business development of the Group. Mr. Liang has 14
years of experience in the sales and distribution of Chinese
liquor and cigarettes. Mr. Liang is a standing committee
member of the 11th Session of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, Zhanjiang and a member
of the 10th Session of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, Guangdong Province. He is also
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Guan Huanfei, aged 54, is an executive director
and the chief executive officer of the Company. He
is also a member of remuneration committee and
compliance committee of the Company. Mr. Guan was
an independent non-executive director and a member of
audit committee of the Company from 6 March 2008 to
27 January 2011. Mr. Guan is experienced in the finance
and insurance industry in Hong Kong and the PRC.
Mr. Guan served various senior managerial positions in
the People’s Insurance Company of China (Jilin Branch)
(FEARRBRAREME D AE]), the business department
of Hong Kong and Macao Regional Office of China
Insurance Group (FEIREREREEEE), Ming An Insurance
Company (Hong Kong) Limited (BBRZ®RBRAR AR
and China Pacific Insurance Co., (HK) Ltd. (B AFFR
& (B7%) BR2AR]). Mr. Guan also held offices with the
Bank of Communications, including the deputy chairman
of the risk asset management committee (E[&EEE
BLZEgRIEMZLE), deputy chairman of credit asset
management committee (EEEEEBZE2RITAZE),
chairman of loan verification committee (EREEZLE
EF1EZ£8), deputy general manager of the Bank of

Communications Hong Kong Branch, the director of Bank
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BIRITEFARA
7l), the chairman and chief executive of China BOCOM
(FERBREERAE]) and the

executive director and general manager of BoCommlLife

of Communications Trustee Limited (3%

Insurance Co., Ltd.

Insurance Company Limited. Mr. Guan is also an economic
& technological consulter of Jilin Provincial Government
(EME BT B MTRER).

degree in Economics in 2000 from Wuhan University and

Mr. Guan obtained a doctor’s

was a post-doctoral researcher in Theoretical Economics
with Fudan University from 2000 to 2002. Mr. Guan has
been a part-time researcher of the Insurance Research

Centre of Fudan University since 2004.

Mr. Wang Jindong, aged 52, was appointed on
1 April 2010. He joined the Group in November
2008. He is the chief financial officer of the Group.
Mr. Wang is responsible for overseeing the investment,
legal and financial affairs, as well as general business
development of the Group. Mr. Wang is currently a
postgraduate student for a part-time master degree of
Economics of Central University of Finance and Economics,
majoring in capital operation and investment and financing
directions. He graduated from the Guangdong Radio and
TV University (EREEEHRAE) with a bachelor degree
in accountancy and is a qualified accountant in the PRC.
Mr. Wang has more than 30 years of experience in
accounting and administration in government organisation
and the state owned enterprise in the PRC as well
as overseas enterprises, including the Guangdong
BERERMER),
Shenzhen Jewellery City Enterprise Company Limited (&3]
MHREREEBRAFT) and K&M Asia Limited.

Administration of Coal Geology (

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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Mr. Joseph Marian Laurence Ozorio, aged 57, was
appointed on 1 April 2010. Mr. Ozorio joined the Group
in October 2009. He is responsible for capital operational
matters of the Group including long-term investment
strategies and investor relationship management. He has
more than 30 years of experience in investment banking
and equity capital management. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Ozorio had served at Merrill Lynch, PF & Smith
(HK) Limited, Anderson Man (Investment Services) Limited,
Refco Futures Limited, Lippo Securities Limited, Sun Hung
Kai Securities Limited and Sun Hung Kai Investment
Services Limited. Mr. Ozorio’s last position with Sun Hung
Kai Investment Services Limited was Managing Director of

Institutional Sales.

Ms. Cheung Mei Sze, aged 38, was appointed on
6 March 2008. She is the Head of Finance of the
Group and a director of a subsidiary of the Company.
Ms. Cheung joined the Group in September 2000 and is
responsible for the financial and accounting affairs of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Cheung was an
assistant supervisor in Ting Ho Kwan & Chan, a CPA firm.
Ms. Cheung holds a bachelor’s degree in Arts majoring in

Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wu lJie Si, aged 59, was appointed on 6 March 2008.
Mr. Wu has over 20 years of experience in finance and
corporate management in the PRC. From 1984 to 1995,
Mr. Wu served in numerous positions in the Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China (“ICBC"),
president of ICBC Shenzhen Branch. From 1995 to 1998,

including the

Mr. Wu served as the deputy mayor of the Shenzhen
Municipal Government. From 1998 to 2000, Mr. Wu
served as the assistant to the governor of Guangdong
Province. From 12 February 2000 to 8 May 2001, Mr. Wu
joined Guangdong Enterprise (Holdings) Limited (“GDE")
as a director during the process of assisting its debt
restructuring. Mr. Wu ceased to be a director of GDE
shortly after the closing of its debt restructuring on
22 December 2000. From 2000 to 2005, Mr. Wu was
appointed as the chairman of Guangdong Yue Gang
Investment Holdings Company Limited (EEREEIREILR
BMRAAE]) and GDH Limited (BRZEKRBRAR). Mr. Wu
has been appointed in various positions in companies
listed on the Stock Exchange and the New York Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wu served as the chairman of Guangdong
Investment Limited (stock code: 270) (“GDI") from March
2000 to March 2001,
2000 to April 2005 and as the honorary president of GDI

from March 2001 to April 2005. Mr. Wu also served as a

as a director of GDI from March

director and honorary president of Guangdong Tannery
1058) from February 2004 to April

2005. Both companies are listed on the main board of

Limited (stock code:

the Stock Exchange. While Mr. Wu was serving as the
chairman and then an honorary president of GDI, GDI and
its subsidiaries underwent a debt restructuring, details
of which were included in GDI's announcements dated
23 December 2000 and 6 May 2003. From April 2005 to
January 2008, Mr. Wu was appointed as the executive
director and from June 2005 to January 2008, Mr. Wu
was appointed as the managing director and the chief
executive officer of Hopson Development Holdings Limited

(stock code: 754) which is listed on the main board of

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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the Stock Exchange. From May 2007 to August 2008,
Mr. Wu also served as an independent non-executive
director of Yingli Green Energy Holding Company Limited
(stock code: YGE) which is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wu is currently an independent non-
executive director of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited
(stock code: 392), China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 3968) and China Taiping Insurance Holdings
Company Limited (formerly known as “China Insurance
International Holdings Company Limited”) (stock code:
966), companies listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wu is also a non-executive director of
China Water Affairs Group Limited (stock code: 855) and
Shenzhen Investment Limited (stock code: 604), and a
non-executive director and vice chairman of China Aoyuan
Property Group Limited (stock code: 3883), all of which
are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Wu obtained a master’s degree in Economics in 1984
and a doctor’s degree in Economics in 1996, both from
Research Institution of the People’s Bank of China. Mr. Wu
completed post-doctoral research work in Theoretical
Economics at Nankai University in 1998-2000 and was
qualified as a professor in Theoretical Economics at Nankai

University in 2001.
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Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny, aged 43, was appointed
as an executive director of the Company on 12 September
2007 and re-designated as a non-executive director of the
Company on 25 September 2010. Mr. Chen joined the
Group in January 2007. During the period from January
2007 to September 2010, he held a number of senior
management positions of the Group including the director
and chief executive officer of Silver Base International
Development Co., Limited, a subsidiary of the Company
and the chief executive officer of the Company. He was
an authorised representative as required under Rule
3.05 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a member
of the remuneration committee and a member of the
compliance committee of the Company. Mr. Chen was
responsible for the overall strategies implementation,
business development, daily operations and management
of the Group. He also involved and supported all investor
relationship and public relationship functions of the Group

during this period.

Mr. Chen has extensive knowledge and experience in
business development, international trade and project
management in sales and distribution of electrical,
mechanical and consumer products. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Chen was the general manager of Faithful
Trading (H.K.) Limited and the operations controller of
GOME Home Appliances (H.K.) Ltd. Further, Mr. Chen held
a number of executive positions with the subsidiaries of
Chevalier International Holdings Limited (stock code: 25),
which is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
from September 1993 to July 2002 during which he was
responsible for the China market and different overseas
markets such as the United States, Vietnam, Myanmar,
Philippines and Japan. Mr. Chen is a member of the 13th
Session of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, Yueshou District, Guangzhou City. He is
also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’s degree in Arts
in 1990, and a bachelor’s degree in Administrative Studies
and a certificate in Management in 1992, all from York

University.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hung Sui Kwan, aged 41, was appointed on
6 March 2008. He is the chairman of audit committee and
compliance committee of the Company and is a member
of remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Hung is
an executive director and the chief executive officer of Get
Nice Holdings Limited ("Get Nice”), a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 64). He
was the company secretary of Get Nice from 2002 to April
2011. During the period from January 2001 to September
2002, he was also an executive director of Get Nice.
From January 1995 to April 1997, Mr. Hung worked with
the audit division of Coopers & Lybrand Certified Public
Accountants (now known as PricewaterhouseCoopers)
and was a supervisor. In 1997, he started his own
practice under the name “Hung Sui Kwan Certified Public
Accountant”. He is currently a director of Venture Partners
CPA Limited and is a licensed person under the Securities
and Futures Ordinances for regulated activity “advising on
corporate finance”. From January 2005 to August 2006,
Mr. Hung was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Century Legend (Holdings) Limited (stock code:
79), a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. In 1991, Mr. Hung obtained a Bachelor of
Science degree from the University of Hong Kong. He is a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and a member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Hung currently holds a practicing certificate issued by

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Ma Lishan, aged 59, was appointed on 6 March
2008. He is a member of audit committee, remuneration
committee and compliance committee of the Company.
Mr. Ma is experienced in corporate management. He is
currently an executive director, the chairman and chief
executive officer of Hao Tian Resources Group Limited
(stock code: 474), a company listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Sunac China Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1918), a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ma served
various senior managerial positions in food, edible oils and
wine industries in the PRC. Mr. Ma was appointed as an
executive director from January 1996, was appointed as
director and managing director from May 1997 and was
appointed from April 2002 to June 2003 as the managing
director of China Foods Limited (stock code: 506) (formerly
known as “China Foods Holdings Limited (FEIR ®¥EE
EEHBRAR])" and “COFCO International Limited (FE
1EMBEIBRABR2AR])"), which is listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange. In 2000, he was appointed as
the deputy general manager of China Foods Import and
Export (Group) Co., Ltd. (FEEHRERELD (£E) 45
[R727]). From June 2003 to July 2005, Mr. Ma was the
deputy managing director of COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited
(PRI MR MER (B8) BR2AF]). From June 2008 to
January 2009, Mr. Ma was an executive director of Sino
Resources Group Limited (carrying on business in Hong
Kong as Sino Gp Limited) (##/N&EREEFRAF]) (formerly
known as Kenfair International (Holdings) Limited (3&%¥El
% (F2R%) BPRZAR]) (stock code: 223) which is listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange. In 1975, Mr. Ma
graduated from the University of Foreign Languages in

Beijing.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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Mr. Zhang Min, aged 53, was appointed on 28 January
2011. He has been the chairman and an executive director
of China Fortune Group Limited (stock code: 290), a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
since 12 April 2011.
China Fortune Group Limited from 8 December 2010
to 11 April 2011.
Construction Bank Corporation, Hong Kong Branch, from
September 2006 to March 2011 and a director of China

He was a non-executive director of

He was the chief executive of China

Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited from August
2006 to March 2011. China Construction Bank (Asia)
Corporation Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
China Construction Bank Corporation ("CCBC") (stock
code: 939), a joint stock limited company incorporated in
the PRC with limited liability whose shares are listed on the

main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Zhang was the president of CCBC Beijing Branch
from 2001 to 2006. He also held directorships in various
subsidiaries of CCBC,
Holdings Limited, CCB Financial Holdings Limited,

including CCB International Group

CCB Overseas Holdings Limited and CCB International
(Holdings) Limited. Mr. Zhang has over 20 years'
experience in the banking industry through his work with
the CCBC and its subsidiaries. He is also a director of the

Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association since 2006.

Mr. Zhang obtained a Bachelor's degree of Philosophy
from the Beijing Normal College in 1982 and further
obtained a Master degree of Laws from the Renmin
University of China in 1988. He was the former president
of the Beijing Banking Association and the Beijing

Investment Institution.
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Senlor Management Profiles

SREEERERE

The senior management of the Group comprises all the

executive Directors and the following persons:

Ms. Fok Pik Yi, Carol, ACIS, ACS, CMILT, aged 44, the
company secretary of the Group. She joined the Group
in December 2009. Ms. Fok is mainly responsible for
overseeing the Group’s corporate governance, regulatory
compliance and legal matters and advising on corporate
development, information disclosure and internal control
policies and procedures of the Group. Ms. Fok obtained
a Master degree in Business Administration from the
University of Surrey in the United Kingdom and a Master
degree of Science in International Shipping and Transport
Logistics from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is
an associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators, an associate of The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and the chartered member of
The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong
Kong. Ms. Fok has substantial experience in company
secretarial practice and business management.

Mr. Wu Xiaoming, aged 48, is the vice president
and general manager of Wuliangye Division of Silver
Base Trading and Development (Shenzhen) Co. Limited
Mr. Wu joined the Group in December 2009 and is solely
responsible for the marketing and sales management
of Wuliangye Ligours. Mr. Wu has nearly 20 years
experience in sales and marketing in the high-end baijiu
liquors industry and has extensive industry resources
and considerable experience in channel development,
marketing planing and sales and operations management.
He graduated from the Faculty of Mechanical and
Automation Engineering of Shanghai Second Polytechnic

University (/85 — T2 K2) in 1986.
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Mr. Hou Linhui, aged 37,

of National Cellar Division of Silver Base Trading and

is the general manager
Development (Shenzhen) Co. Limited. Mr. Hou joined
the Group in July 2009 and is mainly responsible for the
sales and marketing management of National Cellar 1573
baijiu with 43% alcohol content. Mr. Hou has 12 years of
experience in the production and sales of baijiu liquors.
He graduated from Faculty of Applied Computer Study of
Hefei PLA Artillery Academy (B ARMEMESIEHETE
Bt) in 1997.

Mr. Ren Yingbao, aged 39, is the general manager of
Jiangjiu Division of Silver Base Trading and Development
(Shenzhen) Co. Limited. Mr. Ren joined the Group in May
2010 and is solely responsible for the sales and marketing
management of jiangjiu (soy flavor baijiu). Mr. Ren has
previously worked with various well-known high-end baijiu
liquors corporations and has substantial experience in
sales and marketing. He also has extensive and practical
experience in the areas of channel development, brand
building, distributor development, team building and
training management. He graduated from the Faculty of
Sericulture of the Anhui Agricultural University (ZZ# 2 %
RE) in 1994.

Mr. Man Hay Tung, aged 57, is the general manager
of Silver Base Image Store Division of Silver Base Trading
and Development (Shenzhen) Co. Limited. Mr. Man joined
the Group in January 2010 and is solely responsible for
the development and operations of Silver Base image
chain stores. Mr. Man previously held senior management
positions in various well-known corporations in the
consumer goods industry and has substantial experience
in the areas of retail and franchise management in Hong
Kong and in the PRC. He also has extensive and practical
experience in team building and staff training and has
made significant achievements in the areas of store
expansion and operations management. He graduated
from the University of Alberta in Canada in 1980 and

holds a Bachelor degree of Commerce.
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Senlor Management Profiles
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Ms. Zhao Xin, aged 33,

of Sales Operation and Management Division of Silver

is the chief operation officer

Base Trading and Development (Shenzhen) Co. Limited.
Ms. Zhao is mainly responsible for monitoring the
daily business operations, sales administration, sales
management and customer relationship in the PRC
markets of the Group. She joined the Group in February
2006. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Zhao was the
media supervisor of the advertisement division of Henan
(lmERIRm~AA) and the
client liaison manager of the Henan liaison department of

National Confectionery and Alcohol Affair (2 EI#EHEE).

Provincial Foodstuffs Co., Ltd.

She is an advanced-level sales and marketing personnel (&
4 & $5A0) registered with the Henan Provincial Sales and
Marketing Committee (A& & #5153 ®) and is certified by
the Ministry of Personnel of the PRC (FR#E A REFIE A S
#B) as specialised in elementary business administration.
Ms. Zhao holds a diploma in Interior Arts from the Henan
Provincial Employee’s University of Light Industry (A f§ &
T BT K2) in the PRC.

Ms. Chan Sing Doris, aged 36, is the sales manager
of Silver Base International Development Co. Limited.
Ms. Chan joined the Group in November 1997. She is
now responsible for sales and distribution of high-ended
Chinese liquor in Hong Kong market and maintaining
close relationship with the customers. Ms. Chan performed
as manager of administration and human resources of
the Group previously, and was proficient in the Group’s
business operation. Ms. Chan enrolled in a course on

corporate administration at Hong Kong Technical College.
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Ms. Kong Wai Man, aged 42, is the marketing manager
of Silver Base International Development Co. Limited.
Ms. Kong joined the Group in September 2004 and is
responsible for marketing development of international
tobacco and liquor markets. Ms. Kong has over 10 years
of experience in marketing. Prior to joining the Group, she
worked for one of the global leading international tobacco
companies as a brand marketing manager. Ms. Kong
has a Bachelor’s degree in Chinese and English Bilingual
Secretarial Management from Jinan University (B AKZ)
in the PRC.

Ms. Liu Xiujuan, aged 34, is the senior manager of Silver
Base International Development Co. Limited. Ms. Liu
joined the Group in November 2004 and is responsible for
liaising with Wuliangye and handling the export business
of the Chinese famous liquor. Ms. Liu has over 5 years
experience in Wuliangye business in the Group. Ms. Liu
holds a Bachelor’s degree in Philosophy from the University
of Sun Yat-sen in the PRC.

Ms. Luk Wan Sang Oriana, aged 40, is the business
manager of Silver Base International Development Co.
Limited. Ms. Luk joined the Group in December 2002
and is responsible for business development of the PRC
tobacco division. Ms. Luk has over 10 years of work
experience in trading companies. Ms. Luk has a Bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration from the Royal

Melbourne Institute of Technology University.

Mr. Tse Chung Leung, aged 38, is the sales manager
of Silver Base International Development Co. Limited.
Mr. Tse joined the Group in September 2000. Mr. Tse
is responsible for, and has knowledge in, the sales and
distribution of liquor and cigarettes in the Southeast Asian

and the PRC duty-free markets.
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LV Repor’r oF the Directors

The directors (the “Directors”) of Silver Base Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) have the pleasure
in presenting their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries as at
31 March 2011 are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the

financial year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 March 2011 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 100
to 184.

DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of HK$0.169 per ordinary share,
totaling HK$201.1 million was paid on 22 December 2010.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.319 per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 March 2011 (for the year ended 31 March 2010:
HK$0.185 per ordinary share) to the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on Monday,
8 August 2011, amounting to HK$379.6 million.

Upon approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company, the final
dividend will be paid on Friday, 12 August 2011 to the

Shareholders.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 2 August 2011 to Monday, 8 August 2011,
both dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the final
dividend and attending and voting at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company, all transfer of
shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates and
transfer forms must be lodged for registration with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, by not later
than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Monday, 1 August
2011.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the property, plant and
equipment, and investment property of the Group during
the financial year ended 31 March 2011 are set out in

notes 13 and 14 to the financial statements, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the financial year ended 31 March 2011 are set out

in note 25 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of

the Cayman Islands where the Company was incorporated.
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LW Repor’r oF the Directors

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 20 February 2009, the Shareholders had approved

and adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option

Scheme”).

Key terms of the Share Option Scheme are

summarised below:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
provide an incentive for the Qualified Participants (as
defined below) to work with commitment towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares
for the benefit of the Shareholders and to retain
and attract persons whose contributions are or may
be beneficial to the growth and development of the

Group.

Qualified Participants of the Share Option Scheme
include any employee, any executive and non-
executive director of the Company, its subsidiaries
or entity in which the Company or its subsidiaries
holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”) and
any such other persons (including but not limited to
supplier, customer, consultant, adviser, contractor,
business partner or service provider of the Company
or its subsidiary or any Invested Entity who in the
absolute discretion of the Board has contributed or

will contribute to the Group.

The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 120,000,000 shares, being 10% of the
total number of shares in issue as at 8 April 2009,

the listing date on the Stock Exchange.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company, must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of
the total number of shares in issue from time to

time.
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(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Unless approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting, the total number of shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted to
any Qualified Participants under the Share Option
Scheme in the 12-month period up to and including
such further grant must not exceed 1% of the total

number of shares in issue.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which

period no further option shall be granted.

A non-refundable consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the offer of grant of an option.
An offer of grant of an option may be accepted by
an eligible person within the date as specified in the
offer letter issued by the Company, being a date not
later than 5 business days from the date on which

the offer is made.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during
a period (which may not expire later than 10 years
from the date of the grant) to be notified by the

Board at its sole discretion.

The subscription price must be at least the highest
of (1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date
of grant; (2) the average of the closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the immediately preceding
five trading days immediately preceding the date of
grant; or (3) the nominal value of the Company’s

share.

(vi)

(vii)

(viii

(ix)

e
=
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ﬁ\ Repor’r oF the Directors

(x)  The Board is entitled at any time within 10 years
between 20 February 2009 and 20 February 2019
to offer the grant of an option to any Qualified

Participants.

No option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme since its adoption on 20 February 2009 and during

the financial year.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2011, distributable reserves of the
Company, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$845.7 million
(as at 31 March 2010: HK$1,068.6 million), of which
HK$379.6 million has been proposed as a final dividend
for the year. Immediately following the date on which the
proposed dividend is distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in

the ordinary course of business.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year are set out in note 26 to the
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity, respectively.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements and
restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 4 in
this annual report. The summary does not form part of the

audited financial statements.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011

x) EFZ2AERN_FTTNF_A-_tH=
E-NF_A-THTFABKRE
MABER2EERHBRE -

B-ZEZNF A -+ ARKBAE B
KARRMBEFERER - X EAREEREE
RO ERE -

GRS
R-T-——F=A=1+-8 REHNSHS
WD FA (— A — FEAD BERA

RIEET) BR2EAEARR AR HY IRFHER
B45.7E BB T (R_E—ZEF=RA=+—
H:1,0686E&®7T) » &H379.688ET
EREFEAFENRPRE -REEZEZIR
BREZH ARG EHNEEDTEKER
BN BRES -

FAARRRAEENRHEEBFED R
BRI T26 R EHERZ K -

MBEENME
AEEBAERAMBFENEEREERS
EHOHE (B EEEZA MY BRRLEE
EES BN BN R FREIE - 1
B TEAREE R B ERR O~ -



PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries of the Company’s listed

securities during the financial year.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the financial year, the Group made no charitable

contributions (2010: nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the financial year and

as at the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liang Guoxing (Chairman)

Mr. Guan Huanfei (re-designated from independent
non-executive Director on 28 January 2011)

Mr. Wang Jindong

Mr. Joseph Marian Laurence Ozorio

Ms. Cheung Mei Sze

Mr. Chung Wai Man (resigned with effect from
25 September 2010)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Jie Si
Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny (re-designated from

executive Director on 25 September 2010)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hung Sui Kwan

Mr. Ma Lishan

Mr. Zhang Min (appointed on 28 January 2011 and
re-elected on 16 May 2011)
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f Repor’r of the Directors

TWE

In accordance with Article 84 of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Liang Guoxing, Mr. Guan Huanfei,
Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny and Mr. Ma Lishan shall retire
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election.

DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
PROFILES

The profiles of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 45 to 57 of this annual

report.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Upon specific enquiry by the Company and following
confirmations from the Directors, save as otherwise set
out in this report, there is no change in the information
of the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.
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Name of Directors

BEEsR
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Details of Changes
SEHE

Mr. Guan Huanfei

B IE S

Ms. Cheung Mei Sze

EXBxt

Mr. Hung Sui Kwan

A 3 380 5T £

Mr. Ma Lishan

Bz E

Mr. Zhang Min

RRELE

Mr. Guan was re-designated from an independent non-executive Director to an
executive Director and was appointed as chief executive officer of the Company
with effect from 28 January 2011. He resigned as a member of the audit
committee of the Company and was appointed as an authorised representative
of the Company as required under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules with effect from
28 January 2011.

BEEANR —_T——F A -1+ \BEHBUFRATEEFHAEIRNTEST L EZ
FARRARTHRBHE BT ——F—A=-+T/\HE BHEARFEZLZESR
REWEZER EMRAEIKRREZLARAATRERE -

Ms. Cheung resigned as a member of the remuneration committee, a member of
the compliance committee and an authorised representative of the Company as
required under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules with effect from 28 January 2011.
H-ZE——F—A-t+t/\BH EXEIBELARFAFMEZESGKE aHZEe
B AKR ETRRBIE3.0SRMRE 2 R A RIREREK -

Mr. Hung was appointed as an executive director and the chief executive officer
of Get Nice Holdings Limited (stock code: 64) with effect from 28 April 2011. He
resigned as the company secretary of Get Nice Holdings Limited on 28 April 2011.

ZHTEERITREH KR _T——FHA-+/\REFEETFERARAA
ZRAME ©

Mr. Ma was appointed as the chairman, an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Hao Tian Resources Group Limited (stock code: 474) with
effect from 1 September 2010.
BEER_Z-—ZFNA - AREZEREREREEBR LA (RMHRIE : 474)
ZERE  BITESHRITHRAR -

Mr. Zhang was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, a member of
the audit committee, a member of the compliance committee and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company with effect from 28 January 2011.

Mr. Zhang was appointed as the chairman and re-designed from a non-executive
director to an executive director of China Fortune Group Limited (stock code: 290)
with effect from 12 April 2011.

RAEFR - ZBE——F—AT/\AREBEZERBIUYFHNITES  FRAEZEE
KB AaHREEEHNERFMEEGKE -
REFBH_FT-——FHAT_AEREZERTEEAREEFTR LA (RHRI
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DIRECTORS" SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has a service contract with the
Company for a fixed term of three years with the
following commencement dates:

Name of Directors

Exgs

%§$ﬁ5£$ Tﬂﬁ%%é%*@%?
B R =F

Commencement Date

B %a B 28

Mr. Liang Guoxing
2B B S

Mr. Guan Huanfei

B IS

Mr. Wang Jindong
TEREE

Mr. Joseph Marian Laurence Ozorio

ol A 5T A

Ms. Cheung Mei Sze
E%/@\ﬁjﬁ

Mr. Wu Jie Si
RERLEAE

Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny
PR WL 52

Mr. Hung Sui Kwan
# 3 e 5 A

Mr. Ma Lishan
Bk E

Mr. Zhang Min
RESEAE

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors are recommended by
the remuneration committee of the Company and are
decided by the Board, as authorised by the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting, having regard to the Group's
results, Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance,
and the then prevailing market conditions.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2011, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning

of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the

Report of the Directors
EEERE

EERBESTHRAERKRS - #H
ERGORESNES

R-TE——F=A=t+—H EFRARA
REITHRABRAR A REEAREER G
EREFMPEGHRI(TEHZMBEGRDI]F
XVER) MR ~ MBI RESFT AR K
RRMANRIEEFRAEEMIEXVEETR

“SFO™)) (i) which were required to be notified to the 8N EBAME RN R R AT (B IEIRE &S
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions MERE &M £ “L%ﬁi?ﬂi%‘f’ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ)%ﬁﬁ’\]%
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and mRORE)  SNBIEEF RAEKHIZE352
short positions which were taken or deemed to have been REZ RN ZIGFTa s M SainBik L™
taken under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which RAFTE MR ETAIZENE RN A A BT
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be wm
entered in the registered referred to therein; or (iii) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in
the Listing Rules, were as follows:
Approximate
Number or percentage or
attributable number attributable
of shares held or Nature of percentage
Name of Director short positions Position interests of shareholding
P s FEAL AR 19 BB BHARRBEI S
EEpns FRBHBE y ¥4 EEME EEE S
Liang Guoxing 184,068,000 (Note 1) Long Interest of controlled 15.47%
corporation
2 E # 184,068,000 (A5t 1) HAE RErEz s
601,000,000 (Note 2) Long Founder and beneficial 50.50%
object of a
discretionary trust
601,000,000 (#7:#2) HR EREFRZAMA

EEa@mA

T 5FH% KREEEFERER 2 F
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TS

Notes:

1. These shares were held by Keen Pearl Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the entire
issued share capital of which is owned by Mr. Liang
Guoxing, an executive Director.

2. These shares were held by Yinji Investments Limited. The
entire issued share capital of Yinji Investments Limited
was beneficially owned by Grand Base Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
indirectly owned by a discretionary trust, the beneficiaries
of which are Mr. Liang Guoxing, Ms. Luo Li, the spouse
of Mr. Liang Guoxing and Miss Liang Gia Li Melody,
the daughter of Mr. Liang Guoxing. HSBC International
Trustee Limited is deemed to be interested in the shares
in the capacity of a trustee of the discretionary trust as
aforementioned.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed
(i) which

were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be

to have under such provisions of the SFO); or

entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in

the Listing Rules.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited

1. % %A% 5 iKeen Pearl Limited (— B 5B
HRRAHEAMKRIZAREFE  MERE
BETBRAUBANTESRRELEES -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors and the chief executive

of the Company, as at 31 March 2011, the following

persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the

Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or

short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the

Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company

and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded

in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange:

Number or

attributable number

Report of the Directors

EEEWME

FTERRN KRS RAEE R 2

N2
X

o

IWEERARAERTRAEBMRAM R-F
——F=ZA=1+—B  THALCGEEEHAR
NERDITHAE) RAR R S AER AR
MHEERBEREEREEZ LA E KD
FEXVERFH2 K37 BRI S A A R 7] S B P
BEZEDIORE  NALHERARARE
BHRHERPIE3B6GRFE 2B MR
FORAE - NHBBRMANRE Bz #E s
HFORR

Approximate
percentage or

attributable

Name of of shares held or Nature of percentage
shareholders short positions Position interests of shareholding
FERELROHE BAERBEA LR

RRAHE RRBHE R BainE BB
Liang Guoxing 785,068,000 (Note 1) Long Interest in controlled 65.97%

corporation and

beneficial object of

a discretionary trust
RE# 785,068,000 (41:#1) HE REZEEz#ERR

FRETIITEA
Keen Pearl Limited 184,068,000 (Note 2) Long Beneficial Owner 15.47%
Keen Pearl Limited 184,068,000 (f7:22) e EREAA
Yinji Investments Limited 601,000,000 (Note 3) Long Beneficial Owner 50.50%
Yinji Investments Limited 601,000,000 (#7723) e ERBAA

— T - FF5H KEFEEZERERAA
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SEH/RE

Number or

attributable number

Approximate
percentage or

attributable

Name of of shares held or Nature of percentage
shareholders short positions Position interests of shareholding
s EL RO HE BARREI LS

RRAM FAXRHE BE EainE EtED

Grand Base Holdings Limited 601,000,000 (Note 3) Long Interest in controlled 50.50%
corporation

Grand Base Holdings Limited 601,000,000 (#7723) HE REEEE

HSBC International 601,000,000 (Note 3) Long Trustee of discretionary 50.50%

Trustee Limited trust

ESRREXERAA 601,000,000 (#74£3) HA ERETZXTEA

Luo Li 601,000,000 (Note 3) Long Beneficial object of a 50.50%
discretionary trust

A 601,000,000 (4/#%3) HA PREFRZZHEA

Liang Gia Li Melody 601,000,000 (Note 3) Long Beneficial object of a 50.50%
discretionary trust

REE 601,000,000 (##:#3) HE PRETZXEA

FMR LLC 93,374,000 (Note 4) Long Interest in controlled 7.85%
corporation

FMR LLC 93,374,000 (#fi4) HA REEER 2 #s

Notes: B -

1. This represents the interests in 184,068,000 shares held by
Keen Pearl Limited and 601,000,000 shares held by Yinji
Investments Limited.

2. These shares were held by Keen Pearl Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the entire
issued share capital of which was owned by Mr. Liang
Guoxing, an executive Director.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited

It £ XKeen Pearl Limited# B 2
184,068,0008% f% 3 K Yinji Investments
Limited$% A 2601,000,000% f% 15 B9 #E 25 ©

% 5% 15 iKeen Pearl Limited (— BB
HERHEETMALZARNEE MER
HEBITRAMRITESRRELAHES -



3. These shares were held by Yinji Investments Limited. The
entire issued share capital of Yinji Investments Limited
was beneficially owned by Grand Base Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
indirectly owned by a discretionary trust, the beneficiaries
of which are Mr. Liang Guoxing, Ms. Luo Li, the spouse
of Mr. Liang Guoxing, and Miss. Liang Gia Li Melody,
the daughter of Mr.
Trustee Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares

Liang Guoxing. HSBC International

in the capacity of a trustee of the discretionary trust as
aforementioned.

4. 91,477,000 shares were held by Fidelity Management
& Research Company and 1,897,000 shares were held
by Fidelity Management Trust Company, Pyramis Global
Advisors LLC. Both Fidelity Management & Research
Company and Fidelity Management Trust Company, Pyramis
Global Advisors LLC are companies incorporated in Boston
MA and 100% owned by FMR LLC. FMR LLC was thereby
deemed to have interests in these shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company were
not aware of any other person (other than Directors and
the chief executive of the Company) who had, or was
deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange.
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DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, no contracts of significance, to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year of at

any time during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS" INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed, there was no contract of significance
between the Company or its subsidiaries, and a controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries at the end of the
financial year or at any time during the financial year.
Furthermore, there was no contract of significance for
the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries at the end of the financial year or at any time

during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year had the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, holding companies entered into any
arrangement which enables the existing Directors or chief
executives to have the right to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company

or any other legal entities.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Other than operating a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme and participating the state managed
retirement benefit scheme in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), the Group has not operated any other

retirement benefits schemes for the Group’s employees.
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DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the financial year and up to the date of this annual
report, no Directors are considered to have interests in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as

defined in the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the financial year, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers
accounted for around 49.8% and 93.6% of the total sales
and total purchases for the year, respectively. The Group's
largest customer and supplier accounted for around
15.2% and 81.3% of the total sales and total purchases

for the year, respectively.

During the financial year, none of the Directors or any of
their associates or any Shareholders which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in the

Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group has the following continuing
connected transactions, details of which were disclosed in
compliance with the requirement of Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.

(@ On 12 March 2010, Silver Base International
Development Co. Limited (”Silver Base
International”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a tenancy agreement
with Silver Base (Holdings) Limited, a company
owned by Mr. Liang Guoxing, an executive Director
and a substantial Shareholder, in relation to the
leasing of (i) the 27th Floor, The Sun’s Group Centre,
200 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong; (ii) car
parking space no. 37 on the 2nd Floor, The Sun’s
Group Centre, 200 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong; and (iii) car parking space no. 47 on the 3rd
Floor, The Sun’s Group Centre, 200 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong for a term of one year
commencing from 1 April 2010 at a monthly rent of
HK$239,000 (exclusive of management fee, rates,

and all other outgoings);

(b) On 12 March 2010, Silver Base International entered
into a tenancy agreement with Silver Base (Holdings)
Limited, a company owned by Mr. Liang Guoxing,
in relation to the leasing of House No. 8, No. 33
Island Road, Hong Kong, for a term of one year
commencing from 1 April 2010 at a monthly rent
of HK$480,000 (exclusive of management fee, rates

and all other outgoings);

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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On 12 March 2010, Silver Base Trading and
Development (Shenzhen) Co. Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a tenancy agreement with Mr. Liang Guoxing in
relation to the leasing of (i) Room 5709, Shun Hing
Square, Jiefang Road, Luohu District, Shenzhen City,
the PRC; and (i) Room 5710, Shun Hing Square,
Jiefang Road, Luohu District, Shenzhen City, the PRC
for a term of three years commencing from 1 April
2010 at a monthly rent of RMB57,300 (exclusive of

management fee, rates, and all other outgoings);

On 12 March 2010, Silver Base Wine & Spirit
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a tenancy
agreement with Mr. Liang Guoxing in relation to the
leasing of Room 5713, Shun Hing Square, Jiefang
Road, Luohu District, Shenzhen City, the PRC for
a term of three years commencing from 1 April
2010 at a monthly rent of RMB19,000 (exclusive of

management fee, rates and all other outgoings);

The annual caps for the aforementioned tenancy
agreements for the three financial years ending
31 March 2011, 31 March 2012 and 31 March
2013 are HK$9,700,000, HK$1,250,000 and
HK$1,250,000 respectively. Based on the applicable
percentage ratios of the Listing Rules, the
transactions under the aforementioned tenancy
agreements are subject to the announcement, annual
review and reporting requirements, but exempted
from the independent shareholders’ approval

requirement under the Listing Rules.

— — &
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Details of the continuing connected transactions set
out in items (a) to (d) were stated in the Company’s

announcement dated 12 March 2010;

On 10 September 2010, Silver Base Trading and
Development (Shenzhen) Co. Limited an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into the distribution agreement with Guizhou Yaxi
Liquors Co., Ltd. in relation to the purchase and
supply of the baijiu Yaxi series of 38 degree and 52
degree for a term commencing from 22 October
2010 to 30 September 2013. The annual caps for
the period commencing from 22 October 2010 and
ending 31 March 2011, the financial year of the
Group ending 31 March 2012, the financial year of
the Group ending 31 March 2013 and the six months
ending 30 September 2013 are RMB50,000,000,
RMB125,000,000, RMB187,500,000 and
RMB137,500,000. This continuing connected
transaction had been approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 22 October 2010. Details of
this continuing connected transaction were stated in

the Company’s circular dated 5 October 2010; and

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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(f)  On 11 March 2011, the Group had entered into
(i) two new tenancy agreements in Hong Kong
with Silver Base (Holdings) Limited, a company
owned by Mr. Liang Guoxing for a term of two
years commencing from 1 April 2011 at a monthly
rent of HK$265,290 and HK$532,800 respectively
(exclusive of management fee, rates, and all other
outgoings); and (i) a new tenancy agreement in the
PRC with Mr. Liang Guoxing for a term of two years
commencing from 1 April 2011 at a monthly rent of
RMB94,000 (exclusive of management fee, rates, and
all other outgoings). Details of the these transactions
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 11 March 2011 and the transactions will
be subject to announcement, annual review and
reporting requirements pursuant to the Listing Rules

in the next financial year.

The continuing connected transactions in respect of items
(a) to (e) above also constitute related party transactions as

disclosed in note 31(a) to the financial statements.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that the above transactions had been entered
into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Company; (ii) on normal commercial terms; and (iii) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests

of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Messrs. Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Messrs.
Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter

containing their findings and conclusions in respect of
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LW Repor’r oF the Directors

the continuing connected transactions disclosed above
by the Company in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the above auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2011.
Details are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on

pages 81 to 97.

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors. The Company, having made specific enquiries to
all Directors, has ensured that all Directors have confirmed
their compliance with the required standard of dealings
as set out in the Model Code during the year ended
31 March 2011.

The Company has received written annual confirmations
from each independent non-executive Director of his
independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers them to be independent
of management and free of any relationship that could
materially interfere with the exercise of the independent

judgment as at the date of this annual report.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY"S
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The proceeds from the Company's issue of new shares at

the time of its listing on the Stock Exchange on 8 April

2009, after the deduction of related issuance expenses,
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amounted to approximately HK$927.5 million. These BEE-E——F=A=T—HZEMENE
proceeds were applied up to 31 March 2011 with the DiZBEREREMENEZAEMER - 77
proposed applications set out in the Prospectus, as Fa
follows:
Unutilised as at
31 March 2011
Per Prospectus Utilised R=ZB-—-%
BRERRER 2BA ZA=t+-BMkEA

Contents HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RE TR TEx TR
For business development EEBE 65.0% 602,875 22.7% 210,371 42.3% 392,504
For the reinforcement & PR NSE R EfE

expansion of the AR SH AR

distribution network in the PRC 24.0% 222,600 6.6% 61,358 17.4% 161,242
For advertising, marketing and BRES  mEEE

promotion and establishing RARsH - AR F®

“Silver Base image stores” [IBEFEE] 20.0% 185,500 6.3% 58,603 13.7% 126,897
For the integration and RRERE IR

consolidation in the PRC RRABHMERS

by way of mergers and TERBETEA

acquistions and development of ~ KE[E

new product lines 15.0% 139,125 6.5% 60,075 8.5% 79,050
For the expansion of headcount  FRMEEEAF - UK

and purchase/upgrading of the BE/RALEE

Group's existing machinery RERBERRE

and equipment 6.0% 55,650 3.3% 30,335 2.7% 25,315
For increasing inventory levels FRESRERE

in Wuliangye Liquor Series RAIR/SEM

and/or other products EmNEEKTE 25.0% 231,875 25% 231,875 - -
For general working capital BE-REEES 10.0% 92,750 10% 92,750 - -
Total @t 100.0% 927,500 57.7% 534,996 423% 392,504
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The unutilised balances have been placed with licensed
banks and financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC

as interest — bearing deposits.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float

pursuant to the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee of the Company had reviewed the
Group’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2011

and provided advice and comments thereon.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year were
audited by Ernst & Young who will retire at the conclusion
of the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being

eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Liang Guoxing
Chairman

Hong Kong

13 June 2011
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Silver Base Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
committed to high standard of corporate governance
and business ethics of the Company and its subsidiaries
The board (the “Board”)

of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company believes

(collectively, the “Group”).

that good corporate governance and business ethics are
essential for achieving sustainable development, building
investors’ confidence and protecting and enhancing
interests of the shareholders of the Company (the

“Shareholders”).

In pursuit of the good and high standard of corporate
governance the Board reviews the corporate governance
principles and practices of the Company from time to
time in order to meet the rising expectations of the
Shareholders and to comply with the increasing stringent
regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to

excellence in corporate governance.

The Company has applied the principles and has complied
with the provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2011,
with a deviation from Code provision A.2.1 during the
period from 25 September 2010 to 27 January 2011 set

out on page 92 of this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is in charge of providing effective and
responsible leadership for the Group. The Directors,
individually and collectively, must act in good faith in the
best interests of the Group and the Shareholders. The
Board sets the Group's overall objectives and strategies,
monitors and evaluates its operating and financial
performance and reviews the corporate governance
standard of the Group. It also decides on matters such
as annual and interim results, connected and notifiable
transactions, Directors’ appointments or re-appointment,

and dividend and accounting policies.

Each newly appointed Director is offered training on
key areas of business operations of the Group. They
are offered training materials that set out the duties
and responsibilities of Directors under the Listing Rules,
related ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements
of Hong Kong. The Company also provides professional
development and training courses to the Directors as
well as the company secretary to continually update their

relevant skills and knowledge.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or
other relationships with each other. Each of independent
non-executive Directors has confirmed in writing his
independence with regard to the independence criteria
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and at the date of
this annual report, the Company still considers them to be

independent.

All Directors have the opportunity to include matters in
the agenda for Board meetings. At least 14-days formal
notice would be given before each regular meeting and
reasonable notices are given for all other ad hoc meeting,
via the company secretary, to the Directors and the Board
procedures are in compliance with the relevant rules and
regulations. Directors may participate either in person or

through electronic means of communication.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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All minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
committees (as defined below) are kept by the company
secretary and are available for inspection by any Director

at any reasonable time on reasonable notice.

The company secretary is striving to update all Directors
on the latest development of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance

and maintain good corporate governance practice.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to
certain Board committees including the audit committee
(the "Audit Committee”), the compliance committee
(the “Compliance Committee”) and the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) (collectively,

the “Board Committees”) of the Company.

EEg
Board of

Directors

REAME
Company
Secretary
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The Board consists of a total of ten Directors, comprising
five executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and

three independent non-executive Directors.

The Director’s profiles are set out on pages 45 to 53 of

this annual report.

The attendance of each individual Director at the Board
meetings and the Board Committee meetings held in the

review year is set out in the following table:

EXgRMBARTRESFAR  BERS
HITES MAFATEZTR=2BILIEH
TTEREX -

ESEEHNAFHRELSESZAE -

TREJSEZNODEFECEEFS RN
EXZBgemmMbERR

Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend
BHEZEE RERLEZEE

Audit Remuneration Compliance

Board Committee Committee Committee
Directors EX Exg EVERS FHzEEE ARERS
Executive Directors #I{TE S
Mr. Liang Guoxing (Chairman) B B % £ (£ /&) 8/8 N/A iE A 212 N/A i A
Mr. Guan Huanfei (Note 1) Bz 3E 5% 4 (A1321) 8/8 22 22 212
Mr. Wang Jindong T&HE % £ 8/8 N/A D iE A N/A i N/A A3 A
Mr. Joseph Marian Laurence Ozorio 1 # 4 %t 4 8/8 N/A i A N/A i A N/A i A
Mr. Chung Wai Man (Note 2) % 1{& X 5t & (#722) 6/6 N/A @R N/A T i@ B N/A T i@ A
Ms. Cheung Mei Sze (Note 3) &£ B &L (#/723) 8/8 N/A T8 N/A T8 B n
Non-Executive Directors FH{TEE
Mr. Wu Jie Si BB L& 8/8 N/A i A N/A i F N/A i F
Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny (Note 4) R Bti% 5% 4 (f7524) 8/8 N/A T8 A (Al n
Independent Non-Executive Directors B FHTES
Mr. Hung Sui Kwan 3t i3 5% & 8/8 212 212 212
Mr. Ma Lishan 537 1L %% 8/8 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. Zhang Min (Note 5) 3k R %6 & (#7#25) 7 N/A T8 n N/A T8 B
Notes: Bzt -
1. Mr. Guan Huanfei was re-designated from an independent 1. ArRErEER—_E——FE—A=-+\Bi

non-executive Director to an executive Director and was
appointed as chief executive officer of the Company with
effect from 28 January 2011. He resigned as a member of
the Audit Committee with effect from 28 January 2011.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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2. Mr. Chung Wai Man resigned as an executive Director with
effect from 25 September 2010.

3. Ms.
Remuneration Committee and the Compliance Committee

Cheung Mei Sze resigned as a member of the

with effect from 28 January 2011.

4. Mr.
an executive Director to a non-executive Director with

Chen Sing Hung Johnny was re-designated from

effect from 25 September 2010. He also resigned as
chief executive officer of the Company, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Compliance Committee
with effect from 25 September 2010.

5. Mr. Zhang Min was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee, the
Compliance Committee and the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 28 January 2011.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION
The Company has adopted the practice to provide relevant
materials to all Directors relating to the matters brought
before the meetings at least three days before the
meetings to ensure that they are given sufficient review

time.

The company secretary and the chief financial officer, who
is also an executive Director attended all Board meetings
to advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance

and accounting and financial matters, as appropriate.

All the Directors will be provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties, and, upon reasonable request,
the Directors will be able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses. An agreed procedure to enable them to do so

was approved by the Board on 25 January 2010.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The responsibilities and activities of each of the Board

Committees during the review year are as follows:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal for the external auditors
and has the authority to raise questions regarding the
resignation or dismissal of the auditors and review of the
Group’s financial information and oversight of the Group’s
financial reporting systems, internal control procedures
and risk management frameworks. It is also responsible
for reviewing the interim and final results of the Group
prior to recommending them to the Board for approval.
The Audit Committee has also reviewed the confirmation
given by Mr. Liang Guoxing and Yinji Investments Limited
of their compliance with the deed of non-competition
undertaking as disclosed in the Prospectus. The written
terms of reference of the Audit Committee is in line with
the Code provisions and is available on the Company’s

website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors including Mr. Hung Sui Kwan as
chairman, who is a qualified accountant with extensive
experience in financial reporting and controls, Mr. Ma

Lishan and Mr. Zhang Min as the members.

The work performed by the Audit Committee for the

financial year ended 31 March 2011 is summarised below:

a) Reviewed with the external auditors the results of
the annual audit and audited report for the year
ended 31 March 2010 and the interim result for the
six months ended 30 September 2010 together with
senior management’s response to the accounting

issues and major findings in the course of audit;
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Reviewed the annual audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company with the external
auditors prior to submission to the Board for
approval. The review was ensure that the financial
statements and disclosures were in accordance with
the applicable Financial Reporting Standards in
Hong Kong and other relevant legal and regulatory

requirements;

Reviewed the continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group to ensure that the
transactions had been conducted on the Group’s
normal commercial terms in the ordinary and usual
course of the business of the Group and that the
terms and annual caps are fair and reasonable and in
the interest of the Group and the Shareholders as a

whole;

Reviewed with the senior management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed the auditing, internal controls

and financial reporting matters of the Group; and

Reviewed the proposed audit fees and terms of
engagement for the external auditors for the

financial year ended 31 March 2011.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited results

for the year ended 31 March 2011 of the Group with

management and the Company’s external auditors and

recommended its adoption by the Board.

=
=

 — — R
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Company and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy. The written terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee is in line with the Code

provisions and is available on the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee comprise the chairman
of the Board, Mr. Liang Guoxing as chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, one executive Director,
Mr. Guan Huanfei and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Hung Sui Kwan, Mr. Ma Lishan and
Mr. Zhang Min.

In determining emolument payable to the Directors, the
Remuneration Committee would consider factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, the commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of

performance-based remuneration.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee for
the financial year ended 31 March 2011 is summarized

below:

a) Approved the renewal of service contract with
Mr. Liang Guoxing after reviewed his remuneration

package;
b)  Approved remuneration package of Mr. Chen Sing

Hung Johnny due to his re-designation from an

executive Director to a non-executive Director;

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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)  Approved the remuneration package of Mr. Guan
Huanfei due to his re-designation from an independent

non-executive Director to an executive Director;

d) Approved the remuneration package of Mr. Zhang

Min for his new appointment; and

e) Reviewed and approved the renewal of service
contracts with Mr. Wu Jie Si, Mr. Hung Sui Kwan,

Mr. Ma Lishan and Ms. Cheung Mei Sze.

Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee is responsible for enhancing
the corporate governance and improvement of the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. The written
terms of reference of the Compliance Committee is

available on the Company’s website.

The Compliance Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors and one executive Director
including Mr. Hung Sui Kwan as chairman, and
Mr. Ma Lishan, Mr. Zhang Min and Mr. Guan Huanfei, as
the members.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2011, the

Compliance Committee conducted the following activities:

a)  Reviewed the internal control reports prepared by the
external auditors and internal auditors respectively
and the compliance reports prepared by the internal
auditors together with the senior management and

make comments thereon; and

b) Reviewed the improvement measures taken by
management to rectify and enhance the internal

control system.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

As the Board is involved in the appointment of new
Directors, the Company has not established a nomination
committee. The Board will take criteria such as expertise,
experience, integrity and commitment into consideration
when considering new Director’s appointment. All
candidates must also meet the standards as set forth in
Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate
who is to be appointed as an independent non-executive
Director should also meet the independence criteria set

out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2011, the
Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of sufficient
number of independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of the independent non-executive Directors must
have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting

or relating financial management expertise.

All Directors are appointed for a fixed term of three
years. They are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company.
New Directors appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy during any year are required to retire and submit
themselves for re-election at the first general meeting
immediately following their appointments. Further, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) are required to retire from office by rotation and
every Directors shall be subject to retirement at an annual

general meeting at least once every three years.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
as the code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the standard set
out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 March
2011.

The Company has adopted written guidelines, “Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees”, on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code for securities
transactions by relevant employees who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of

the Company.

The Company has been confirmed by Mr. Liang Guoxing
and Yinji Investments Limited that (i) each of them has
complied with the undertaking contained in the deed
of non-competition undertaking dated 25 March 2009
executed by them in favour of the Group; (ii) each of
them and/or their respective associates is not offered or
becomes aware of any new project or business opportunity
directly or indirectly to engage or becomes interested in
any business carried on by any member of the Group from
time to time or in which any member of the Group is

engaged or has invested or is otherwise involved in.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated and should

not be performed by the same individual.

During the period from 25 September 2010 to
27 January 2011, Mr. Liang Guoxing, the chairman of
the Company, assumed the duties of the chief executive
officer of the Company due to pending the appointment
of the new chief executive officer of the Company. The
Board considers that the balance of power and authority
is adequately ensured by the operations by the Board
which comprised experienced and high caliber individuals,
a substantial proportion thereof being non-executive

Directors.

Since 28 January 2011, the positions of the chairman and
chief executive officer are held by Mr. Liang Guoxing and
Mr. Guan Huanfei respectively. The segregation ensures
a clear distinction between the chairman’s and the chief
executive officer’s responsibilities. The chairman provides
leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning
of the Board together with certain business development
functions and overall corporate strategies while the
chief executive officer is focus on managing the daily
management and business operations of the Group and
implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved

and delegated by the Board.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and
effective internal control system of the Group to safeguard
the Shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets.
With the support of the Audit Committee and Compliance
Committee, the Board at least annually conducts a review
of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the

Group.

The internal audit department of the Company is
responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of internal
control procedures and compliance with policies and
standards of the Group. It has full access to review all
aspects of the Group’s activities and internal controls.
All types of audited reports are circulated to the Audit
Committee and key management which will follow up the
corrective actions to the recommendations by the internal

audit department.

The Board, supported by the internal audit department, is
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
of the Company and the Group. In preparation of the
financial statements, Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards have been adopted and the appropriate
accounting policies and statutory requirements have been

consistently complied with.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, the Compliance
Committee and with the assistance of compliance
consultant, the company secretary and internal control
department, has conducted a review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s system of internal control, covering

financial, operational, compliance control and risk
management functions for the year ended 31 March 2011.
The Group's system of internal control includes the setting
up of a management structure with limits of authority,
and is designed to help the Group achieve its business

objectives, protects its assets against unauthorised use or
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disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant laws and regulations. The system is designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss, and to manage rather than
eliminate all risks of failure in the Group’s operational
systems and in the achievement of the Group’s business
objectives. After reviewing the Group’s internal control
system, the Board considers that the internal control
system is effective and adequate for the Group as a whole.
The Board further considers that (i) there was no material
issues relating to the internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions of the Group; and (ii) there were adequate staff
with appropriate qualification and experience, resources
for accounting and financial reporting function, and
adequate training programmes and budget have been

provided during the financial year ended 31 March 2011.

DIRECTORS" AND EXTERNAL AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of accounts of each financial period, which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2011,
the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies
and have applied them consistently, adopted appropriate
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Accounting Standards which are pertinent to its operations
and relevant to the financial statements, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and have

prepared the accounts on the going concern basis.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2011 which were prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting

standards.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditors of the
Group on the financial statements of the Group are set

out on pages 98 to 99 of this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

The Group’s external auditors are Ernst & Young. During
the financial year ended 31 March 2011, the fees paid/
payable to the external auditors in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by the auditors to the Group

were as follows:
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For the year
ended 31 March

For the year
ended 31 March

2011 2010

BE-Z——H #HE-_Z—ZF

=B=+-—H —A=+—8H

IEFEE WFE

HKS$ HK$

Type of services Ak 75 12 A BT BT

Audit services 2% SR 7% 1,630,000 1,850,000

Non-audit services IEWZ ER 75 1,250,000 1,000,000

Total e 2,880,000 2,850,000
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INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company endeavours to maintain a high level of
transparency in communication with the Shareholders
and investors in general. The various formal channels via
which the Company communicates with its Shareholders
include interim and annual reports, information on the
Stock Exchange’s and the Company’s websites and general

meetings.

All notice of general meetings despatched by the
Company to the Shareholders have been sent in the case
of annual general meeting at least 20 clear business days
before the meeting and in the case of the extraordinary
general meeting at least 10 clear business days.
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’'s
general meetings where the chairman of the Board
and the Directors including the chairman of the audit
committee are available to answer questions. Separate
resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on
each substantially separate issue. The financial and other
information relating to the Group has been published on
the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)

and the Company (www.silverbasegroup.com).

The Company is aware of its obligations under the Listing
Rules in relation to the disclosure of price-sensitive
information and has established procedures to ensure
that all communications with the public, including the
investment community and the media, are fair, and that
material non-public information is not disseminated on a

selection basis.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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The Company holds press and analysts conferences
from time to time at which the executive Directors and
senior management of the Group are available to answer
questions regarding the performance of the Group. During
the financial year, the Group held a number of road shows
and meetings with institutional investors and financial
analysts in Hong Kong as well as overseas. To enable the
investors and analysts understand more about the Group's
businesses and products, the Company organised several

wine tasting events during the year ended 31 March 2011.

VOTING BY POLL

The Company ensures that the Shareholders are familiar

with the detailed procedures for conducting a poll.

The chairman of a meeting has at the commencement
of the Shareholder meeting ensured that the procedures
for conducting a poll and then answer questions by
Shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll. The results
of the poll have been published on the websites of the

Stock Exchange and the Company.
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¢ Independent Auditors’ Report
OBV ARBEERE

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= ik

Ernst & Young

18th Floor

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2846 9888

=k & 5T AT E 5 B
EHEPIRSRATSSE
PR & R 0281842
EE: +852 2846 9888
{EH: +852 2868 4432
www.ey.com

Fax: +852 2868 4432
WwWw.ey.com

To the shareholders of Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Silver Base Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on
pages 100 to 184, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31
March 2011, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS" RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited
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AUDITORS’" RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation

of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 March 2011, and of the
Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

13 June 2011
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,{; Consolidated Income Statement
EHHER

Year ended 31 March 2011 —E——F=A=+—HItFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E2-ZF
Notes HK$' 000 HK$' 000
A THxT FBT
REVENUE I % 5 2,217,382 1,319,089
Cost of sales 8 & AR (1,195,929) (696,041)
Gross profit EH 1,021,453 623,048
Other income and gains H U A K 28 5 3,770 31,466
Selling and distribution expenses HERKIHEER (202,961) (116,982)
Administrative expenses THER (67,272) (53,046)
Other expenses HihEH - (900)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR i A A 6 754,990 483,586
Income tax expense Frisii & A 9 (169,698) (87,437)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE ZAAFEERIZIFEAA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF FE{LEEFIE
THE COMPANY 10 585,292 396,149
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE ZAAFEERZIEAA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF FE{tERZEF
THE COMPANY 12
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EAR K #5E (B 49.18 33.18
Details of the dividends are disclosed in note 11 to the financial BB BN B RRMTF11HE -
statements.

] OO Silver Base Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 4

SHEERAR
Year ended 31 March 2011 —E——F&=A=+—HItFE
2011 2010
—E——F —E—2F
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FHExT FHET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEFHE 585,292 396,149
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hih2mmB A
Exchange differences on translation BEBINEBESD
of foreign operations fEHZ% 46,595 1,348
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AAFEBEER
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE BEAEGEE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EHEBAEE
OF THE COMPANY 631,887 397,497

T - -F 5 REEBERAERXA ]O]




FLr Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

& OB B AR R 3R
31 March 2011 ZE——F=A=+—H
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
i FHET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BWE KRR 13 11,222 8,391
Investment property REME 14 7,548 7,757
Intangible asset EREE 15 7,400 7,400
Deposits e 2,772 -
Total non-current assets EMBEE R 28,942 23,548
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories e 17 480,266 314,590
Trade and bills receivables EWESHEREWEE 18 711,016 43,282
Prepayments, deposits and BRRE RZ2k
other receivables H b fE I GRIA 19 440,014 287,873
Tax recoverable A Uy [3] %7 18 962 -
Cash and bank balances Re MRITERH 20 339,282 977,748
Total current assets TMEEEBRE 1,971,540 1,623,493
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables e B 53R 21 528 27,072
Deposits received, other payables BEET & - HAvfER
and accruals HEREGTAE 22 159,300 39,631
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FERITEE 23 62,899 96,782
Tax payable e HE TR 127,095 43,732
Total current liabilities B BERT 349,822 207,217
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFEE 1,621,718 1,416,276
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERRBAE
LIABILITIES 1,650,660 1,439,824
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities REHIBEEE 24 459 250
Net assets EEFE 1,650,201 1,439,574
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to ordinary KA EBRERBAEA
equity holders of the Company L
Issued capital B BT A 25 119,000 119,000
Reserves & 26 1,531,201 1,320,574
Total equity i g 1,650,201 1,439,574

R E

Guan Huanfei

Director

EF

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 3

SOERRBR
Year ended 31 March 2011 —ZE——&=ZfA=+—HAI&FE
Share Capital ~ Statutory  Exchange
premium redemption  surplus fluctuation
Issued  account Capital  reserve  reserve  reserve  Retained Total
capital Rt reserve B4 EE HE  profis  equity
BRMRE  REE EARE RERE BHORE  RIEE REAE  ERLE
Notes HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000
it Tan  Tér  TEr  TEr  TEr TEr  TEn ThEn
(note 26(a)(i) (note 26(a)ii))
(P &E26(a))) (Ft2E26(a)i)
At 1 April 2009 RZTENENA-A 380 - (380) - 16,134 11,973 228,112 256,219
Profit for the year ERAE - - - - - - 39,149 396,149
Other comprehensive EEERREWA:
income for the year:
Exchange differences on BB EBMEL
translation of foreign EiZE
operations - - - - - 1,348 - 1,348
Total comprehensive income ~ FE2AWAAE
for the year - - - - - 1348 3%,149 397497
Interim 2010 dividend ZE-TERERE " . - - - - - (170,400 (170,400)
Capitalisation issue BAEA 25(3) 89,620  (89,620) - - - - - -
Issue of shares £l 25(b) 30,000 1,005,000 - - - - - 1,035,000
Share issue expenses RBER - (4,880) - - - - - (46,880)
Repurchase of shares BERA 25() (1,0000  (30,856) - 1,000 - - (1,0000  (31,856)
Transfer to statutory BRTETRELES
surplus reserve - - - - 928 - (928) -
At 31 March 2010 and RZE-FE=A=t1-8
at 1 April 2010 kZ%-2E@A-A 119,000 837,638* (380)* 1,000% 17,062* 13321% 451933 1,439,574
Profit for the year FEAHE - - - - - - 585292 585292
Other comprehensive income  FE £ 2EM -
for the year:
Exchange differences on hEBNEHBIELN
translation of foreign EXzE
operations - - - - - 46,595 - 46,595
Total comprehensive income ~ EE2AWNLE
for the year - - - - - 46,595 585,292 631,887
Final 2010 dividend “R-RERERS 11 - (20,150 - - - - - (220,150)
Interim 2011 dividend “Z—ER8ks 11 - - - - - - Qo110 (201,110
Transfer to statutory BRATETRHDES
surplus reserve - - - - 3,770 - (3,770) -
At 31 March 2011 RZE-—%=f=+-A 119,000  617,488* (380)* 1,000 20,832* 59,916%  832,345* 1,650,201
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves * ZERERRLRBEEHYBRARANE

of HK$1,531,201,000 (2010: HK$1,320,574,000) in the

Bt 11,531,201,0008 T (Z T — T4 :

consolidated statement of financial position. 1,320,574,000/& L) °
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F:r Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHEERER
Year ended 31 March 2011 —E——F=A=+—HItFE
2011 2010
—B-—fF —T-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$' 000
Hi et FER FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM EETHNRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B %52 Bl A 754,990 483,586
Adjustments for: BUATSIEMIENAE
Interest income FMEWA 5 (1,460) (786)
Depreciation wE 6 3,420 1,919
Loss on disposal of items of property, BEME  BEREE
plant and equipment BEZEE 6 11 -
Impairment of an intangible asset mEEERE 6 - 900
Reversal of write-down of BEMRBFER
inventories to net realisable value AR EE 5 (1,535) (1,672)
755,426 483,947
Increase in inventories FELE N (164,141) (123,398)
Increase in trade and bills receivables FEWE 5 58 K e Uk
FEE M (667,734) (17,332)
Increase in prepayments, BRIE - e Rk H A
deposits and other receivables FE U IR N (154,913) (196,025)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 8 S5mEE M/ () (26,544) 25,218
Increase/(decrease) in deposits received, 2 UWET & - E b B FE K
other payables and accruals FEEta &M ORd) 119,669 (13,687)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations & ¥/13,/ (FrfA) MR L (138,237) 158,723
Interest received =R 1,460 786
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBFNEH (48,583) (81,204)
Elsewhere tax paid BT H MR ERE (38,505) (11,023)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEHAG (TR K
operating activities WemeFH (223,865) 67,282
CASH FLOWS FROM REZHNRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEWME BENIEE
plant and equipment B H 13 (5,941) (6,205)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - BE R
property, plant and equipment BEEENFERIE - 12
Net cash flows used in BEEBFA
investing activities MREREFR (5,941) (6,193)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows »h

SORSRBR
Year ended 31 March 2011 —Z——F=A=+—HItFE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
& FExT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM RETBNHRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New trust receipt loans FgEATREER 62,899 96,782
Repayment of trust receipt loans BEGETPBEER (96,782) (53,165)
Dividends paid B E 11 (421,260) (170,400)
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TR ERIA 25(b) = 1,035,000
Share issue expenses BHmETER - (46,886)
Shares repurchased B Ol i 1n 25(c) - (31,856)
Net cash flows from/(used in) MEEESE, (FTA)
financing activities REMmEFHE (455,143) 829,475
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReRkBEeEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #gm, (Rd) FE (684,949) 890,564
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERFCEEY
beginning of year 977,748 85,844
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXEHTE (FH)
changes, net 46,483 1,340
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESRESZEY
AT END OF YEAR 339,282 977,748
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RekBReEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EER D AT
Cash and bank balances Re MBITHES 339,282 977,748
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E:r Statement of Financial Position

B 7% AR R 3%
31 March 2011 —ZE——F=A=+—H
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-FF
Notes HK$' 000 HK$' 000
i3 FHET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries B A RIHIRE 16 910,437 842,114
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and BRFE - Rk
other receivables H b fE UL FRIE 19 55 6,500
Cash and bank balances We MIBITHEH 20 54,231 339,065
Total current assets REEERT 54,286 345,565
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accruals JEETEE 22 6 32
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZFE 54,280 345,533
Net assets EEFE 964,717 1,187,647
EQUITY g
Issued capital BBITIRA 25 119,000 119,000
Reserves s 26 845,717 1,068,647
Total equity R BRE 964,717 1,187,647
BT ETEBR
Guan Huanfei Wang Jindong
EZE EZE
Director Director
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
Silver Base Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)

was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on
12 September 2007. The registered office of the
Company is located at the office of Codan Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited, whose address is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is
located at 27th Floor, The Sun’s Group Centre, 200

Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company'’s shares were listed on the main board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 8 April 2009 (the “Listing”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the distribution of Wuliangye (Ff&/&) Liquor
Series, other liquor products, red wine and Chinese
cigarettes. Details of the principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the financial

statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate
holding company and the ultimate holding company
of the Company is Yinji Investments Limited (“Yinji
Investments”), which was incorporated in the British

Virgin Islands.

Notes to Financial Statements »h

B 8 38 R M
31 March 2011 = ——F=A=+—H
NEEH
REEEZERARQRA(TARA]) R
—ET+tFAAt-RERERSET
MRZBZHRRLBERIAE - ARQAGE
fft #% = BE 7 A Codan Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited® A= - # 4k A
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands e X ARIEBE BN EE
R B P BB B A 4T 82005
FIREEE P L2748 o

ARBABEOR-_ZTNFHANBER
BHARZIAARRE ([BRM]) TR
EmTERD -

ARmREMB AR (SHAEE]) 2
ITEXBREEARBERS - HAiE
BEM AERTEEE- - HEBRARN
TEEBHBHARUBRERMEI6-

EERA  ARANEEERAG KK
BRERAARNABER RS TM
FXSZEYinji Investments Limited ([ Yinji

Investments]) o
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ﬁlr Notes to Financial Statements
B 75 3R 3% P 5
31 March 2011 —ZE——F=A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 IRREE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA'), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention. They
are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when

otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2011. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of
acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases. All intra-
group balances, transactions and unrealised gains
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions

and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Adjustments are made to bring into line any

dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-
controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i)
the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group's share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to

profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and

revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current

year's financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards - Additional
Exemptions for First-time Adopters

HKFRS 2 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment - Group Cash-settled
Share-based Payment Transactions

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial

Statements

2.1

2.2

Notes to Financial Statements
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E:r Notes to Financial Statements

BF %5 ¥R AR BT R

31 March 2011 —Z——F=A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

HKAS 32 Amendment

HKAS 39 Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

HKFRS 5 Amendments
included
in Improvements to
HKFRSs issued in
October 2008

Improvements to
HKFRSs 2009

HK Interpretation 4
Amendment

HK Interpretation 5

The adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has
had no significant financial effect on these financial

statements.

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation -
Classification on Rights Issue

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial

Instruments: Recognition and

Measurement - Eligible Hedged Items

Distributions of Non-cash Assets

to Owners

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued

Operations - Plan to sell the

controlling interest in a subsidiary

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
issued in May 2009

Amendment to HK Interpretation 4
Leases — Determination of the
Length of Lease Term in respect of
Hong Kong Land Leases

Presentation of Financial Statements
- (lassification by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

] ] O Silver Base Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and

revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet

effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 9

HKAS 12

HKAS 24 (Revised)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14

Amendments

HK(FRIC)-Int 19

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards - Limited
Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters '

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards - Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed

Dates of First-time Adopters >

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures -
Transfers of Financial Assets 3

Financial Instruments °

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes
- Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets *

Related Party Disclosures 2

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding

Requirement 2

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with

Equity Instruments !

Notes to Financial Statements
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ﬁlr Notes to Financial Statements
B 7% 3R 3% i 5
31 March 2011 —ZE——F=A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EREMERRERNE B

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued
Improvements to HKFRSs 2070 which sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs primarily with
a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying
wording. The amendments to HKFRS 3 and HKAS 27
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2010, whereas the amendments to HKFRS
1, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1, HKAS 34 and HK(IFRIC)-Int
13 are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2011 although there are separate

transitional provisions for each standard.

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 July 2010

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2011

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2011

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2012

° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2013

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon
initial application but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have
a significant impact on its results of operations and

financial position.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and
operating policies the Company controls, directly or

indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s income statement to the extent of
dividends received and receivable. The Company’s
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any

impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual
arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity. The joint venture
operates as a separate entity in which the Group and

the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers
stipulates the capital contributions of the joint
venture parties, the duration of the joint venture
and the basis on which the assets are to be realised
upon its dissolution. The profits or losses from the
joint venture’'s operations and any distributions of
surplus assets are shared by the venturers, either in
proportion to their respective capital contributions,
or in accordance with the terms of the joint venture

agreement.
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ﬁlr Notes to Financial Statements
B 75 R 3% M 5
31 March 2011 —ZE——F=A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEREFTHEBE (8)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Joint ventures (continued)

A joint venture is treated as a subsidiary, if the
Group/Company has unilateral control, directly or

indirectly, over the joint venture.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, financial assets and an
investment property), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the

asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the income statement in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the

function of the impaired asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the income statement in the period in
which it arise.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with, the
Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that
gives it significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or its holding company;

(c)  the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (b);

2.4
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEREFTHERE (8)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(d) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity
resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual

referred to in (b) or (c); or

(e) the party is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of the employees of the Group,
or of any entity that is a related party of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working

condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the income statement in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual

assets with specific useful lives and depreciation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this

purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the

lease terms and 20%

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among

the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain
or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
the income statement in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant

asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEREFTHERE (8)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment property

Investment property is an interest in land and
building held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such property is stated at cost including
transaction costs less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and is depreciated on
the straight-line basis to write off the cost of the

property over its estimated useful life of 50 years.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property recognised in the income

statement in the year in which they arise.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are tested for impairment annually either
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of
an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite

to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group
is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets,
and rentals receivable under the operating leases are
credited to the income statement on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the
lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged
to the income statement on the straight-line basis

over the lease terms.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group within the scope of
HKAS 39 are classified as loans and receivables. The
Group determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value,

plus directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEREFTHERE (8)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in finance income in the
income statement. The loss arising from impairment
is recognised in the income statement in other

expenses.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial

assets) is derecognised when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset

have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has

transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, and has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and

obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration

that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEREFTHERE (8)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is any objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”)
and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications
that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or

economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses individually whether objective
evidence of impairment exists for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which
an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised
are not included in a collective assessment of

impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment
loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value
of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate
(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is

the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either
directly or through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
income statement. Interest income continues to
be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is
accrued using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together
with any associated allowance are written off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery, and
all collateral has been realised and transferred to the

Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a future write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to the income

statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 BERESTHEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group within the scope of
HKAS 39 are classified as loans and borrowings. The
Group determines the classification of its financial

liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair

value plus directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the income statement when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest

rate method amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation

is included in finance costs in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or

cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying

amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities

simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-
in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be

incurred to disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEREFTHERE (8)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of

the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial
position, cash and bank balances comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, which

are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is

included in finance costs in the income statement.

] 2 6 Silver Base Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011

HehREEEY
REHRERERMS R LREF
EVERFERS  EHENR - UARA
ERARACABENRS (BEEH
RBRE  BRHBEERE  —KRRARE
AEBEFA=EARNIANERTER
BURE)REAREREELBRA
SENRSEENARBONRTE
¥ o

MM BMRAKRME  Re MRTEK
BRFEREMETEFR(BREHRF
Fo BEBBRAZREINEBFR) -

1
HBEBIEMEENREEE CRERX
HE) AR AA AT E B AKREE T
ERUBATEBEM YAARMGHE
FERSEN - BRBEE -

BHRNYEBERR  ERIANEE
BEANRERRABITREABOE
AAARKRERMBRE  ANERAMELE
MRERIREIR BB DRt AR RAE
B -



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised either in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current
and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing

in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial

reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences while deferred tax assets are
recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be

utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EXRETHBRME (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued) FRER (48)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at EREREEELABERERyESR
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period BENESEABHENERANERTY
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, TR R (REE) IERBEHKRER
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been EHABTEERANBMR (BB EFE -

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are BT IEEER BEES B E TR
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off S MEMBIEER $,EHE|]HH%RIE'§FTR
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and SEENERRS B B B O A & BT TAER)
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity i L%ﬁlﬁéﬁﬁfg%ﬁ?i%&ﬁ*ﬁ%%%
and the same taxation authority. BER - FAET

Revenue recognition U 25 FEA

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that B O F| 25 KA AT AL R AN £ B DA K

the economic benefits will flow to the Group and BT S ER - BelRUT

when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the EEmUL S

following bases:

(@) from the sale of goods, when the significant (a) KREHEEY ERADDELE
risks and rewards of ownership have been RO EETESR  WRS
transferred to the buyer, provided that NREBLERE SR BESRES
the Group maintains neither managerial NS HDHENEY
involvement to the degree usually associated B A Ry b |
with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over (b) FLUA - A E AR )
the lease terms; e

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the (€ FIBULA » SARESHEE(E AT
effective interest method by applying the rate BEEmA M T EMIES A RS
that exactly discounts the estimated future MR S B4 HART (i ) ¥k 5t ok
cash receipts through the expected life of the KESWALEBEEE S EE
financial instrument or a shorter period, when HBEEFENNRASE K
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset; and

(d) income from a supplier related to compensation (d) *E—RftEEIEAAE@ET
of the Group’s relevant promotional activities, HEEE IS mENkA - IR
when received. U B B FE 2R o
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits
Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its
employees under their employment contracts on a
calendar year basis. Under certain circumstances,
such leave which remains untaken at the end of the
reporting period is permitted to be carried forward
and utilised by the respective employees in the
following year. An accrual is made at the end of the
reporting period for the expected future cost of such
paid leave earned during the year by the employees

and carried forward.

Pension schemes and other retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme
in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees

when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the income statement
as they become payable in accordance with the rules

of the central pension scheme.
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31 March 2011 —ZE——F=A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 BERESTHEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates ruling at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. All differences are

taken to the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was

determined.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into the presentation currency of the Company at
the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period and their income statements are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in

the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted

average exchange rates for the year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected

in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Impairment of assets

The Group has to exercise judgement in determining
whether an asset is impaired or the event previously
causing the asset impairment no longer exists,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred that may affect the asset value or such
event affecting the asset value has not been in
existence; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management to determine the level
of impairment, including the discount rates or
the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present

value used in the impairment test.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value
is made based on the ageing and estimated net
realisable value of inventories. The assessment of
the write-down amount requires management'’s
estimates and judgements. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in the future is different
from the original estimate, such differences will
impact the carrying value of inventories and the
write-down/write-back of inventories in the period in
which such estimate has been changed.

Useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of
items of property, plant and equipment, the Group
has to consider various factors, such as technical or
commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in production, or from a change in
the market demand for the product or service output
of the asset, expected usage of the asset, expected
physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance
of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use
of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of
the asset is based on the experience of the Group
with similar assets that are used in a similar way.
Additional depreciation will be made if the estimated
useful lives and/or the residual values of items of
property, plant and equipment are different from the
previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values
are reviewed, at each financial year end date based
on changes in circumstances.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXESFTHERMGE (B8)
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued) mEt T E = (8)

Impairment of trade receivables JE U B 2 5078 5 18

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting REBPNEERARTEESFAEENM
period whether there is any objective evidence that EEEBEXRPRKE S FERE - Wk
a trade receivable is impaired. To determine whether ERARERENETEER A5EZ
there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group BHRZBERNEEBBHAI L
considers factors including, inter alia, the probability RN EDN DG YN E )
of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the XINHREREERE -AEEBREFEEER
debtors and default or significant delay in payments. BARBEIMEMEGTEROREE - A%
The Group maintains an allowance for estimated loss ERBEEEWE HRIBAEKRDERR &
arising from the inability of its debtors to make the A B 5 2 2 DA TE 85 A8 B i 3 1T 1
required payments. The Group makes its estimates 5o MEB AN BONARB(EABRER
based on the ageing of its trade receivable balances, WEBEIERRESR  XEEHFE
debtors’ creditworthiness, and historical write-off EATIE L BBH A2 -

experience. If the financial condition of its debtors
was to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss
might be higher than expected, the Group would be

required to revise the basis of making the allowance.

Further details are included in note 18 to the S BEHN B IRRMEI8 -

financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on its products and services
and has three reportable operating segments as

follows:

(i)  the distribution of Wuliangye liquor series and

other liquor products (“Liquors”);

(i)  the distribution of Chinese cigarettes

("Cigarettes”); and

(iii) the investment in a residential apartment
for its rental income potential (“Property

Investment”).

Management monitors the results of the Group's
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit/(loss),
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The
adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that
interest income and other gains are excluded from

such measurement.
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E:r Notes to Financial Statements

R EY N
31 March 2011 ZE——%=fA=+—H
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RBEDIHER ()
(continued)
Year ended 31 March 2011 —E-——H=ZA=+—-HLEEE
Property
Liquors Cigarettes Investment Total
i BE MERE a5t

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THET TAET TAET TAET

Segment revenue: DU
Sales to external customers $HEEINEEF 2,148,445 68,937 - 2,217,382
Other revenue Hfth U 2% - - 42 42
Total A&t 2,148,445 68,937 42 2,217,424
Segment results DEWEE 746,153 7,554 (235) 753,472
Reconciliation: HER -
Interest income F B U A 1,460
Other gains A 58
Profit before tax B 75 B A 754,990
Other segment Hibp HEHR :

information:
Depreciation e 3,101 110 209 3,420
Capital expenditure* BARZ M 5,187 330 424 5,941
Reversal of write-down BEMBRTES

of inventories to net Al IR A

realisable value - (1,535) - (1,535)
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to items of * BERATLBEEME  KERRZHER

property, plant and equipment. ZRE °
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BSRRMEE
31 March 2011 ZE——%=fA=+—H
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RBEDIHER ()
(continued)
Year ended 31 March 2010 —E-ZEF=ZA=1+—HILFE
Property
Liquors Cigarettes Investment Total
i &5E MERE &5t

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAET FTHTT T TAET

Segment revenue: DU
Sales to external customers (HEZEINEFF 1,264,310 54,779 - 1,319,089
Other revenue A - - 42 42
Total A&t 1,264,310 54,779 42 1,319,131
Segment results DEEE 475,931 7,026 (222) 482,735
Reconciliation: #HR -
Interest income B WA 786
Other gains H Uz 65
Profit before tax B %1 B A1 483,586
Other segment Hibp HEHR :

information:
Depreciation e 1,671 39 209 1,919
Capital expenditure* BARZ M 6,037 168 - 6,205
Reversal of write-down BEMBRTER

of inventories to net A& IR R A

realisable value - (1,672) - (1,672)
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to items of * BEATHBEYE BELREHER

property, plant and equipment. ZNE o
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B 7% 3R 3% B 5
31 March 2011 —Z——%=ZA=+—H
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RBEDIHER (F)
(continued)
Geographical information & &
South-east
Mainland Asian
Hong Kong China  countries Others Total

& PEHAER REZEX Hit aif
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAT

Year ended 31 March 2011 —E——F
ZA=t-BHLEE
Revenue from external RENBEFZ
customers* Yz * 745,322 1,455,579 13,622 2,859 2,217,382
Non-current assets** FEmBEE* 23,739 5,203 - - 28,942
Year ended 31 March 2010 —Z-ZF
ZA=t-BHLEE
Revenue from external RENBEFZ
customers* Yz * 723,397 582,818 9,010 3,864 1,319,089
Non-current assets** FEmBEE* 21,218 2,330 - - 23,548
* The revenue information is based on the location of * WS 2R EE T A -
the customers.
**  The non-current asset information is based on the * % ERHEENEE RIS SEREN

location of the assets. MEHE o
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about major customers
Revenues from three major customers of
approximately HK$338,127,000 (2010: Nil),
HK$322,487,000 (2010: HK$706,308,000)
and HK$249,933,000 (2010: HK$41,926,000)
respectively for the year ended 31 March 2011 were
derived from sales by the Ligours segment and the
Cigarettes segment, including sales to two entities
which are known to be under common control of

one major customer.

During the prior year, revenue of approximately
HK$706,308,000 was derived from sales by the
Liquors segment and the Cigarettes segment to a
single customer, including sales to two entities which
were known to be under common control of that

customer.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover,
represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after

allowances for returns and trade discounts.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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KEFEHER ()

BEHRXTERPHEHR
REE-_T——F=A=+—8H
tFE RE=ZFZFERZF DAL
338,127,000 T (Z T —ZTF : &) -
322,487,000 L (ZE — & F
706,308,000/ 7T) }2249,933,000/% 7T
(ZZE—ZF : 41,926,000/ 70) Uk &
REREBESHRBESHBHHEE (BIF
MMEEENHEE MEREREER
H—RETEZPRERZES) -

&+ #9706,308,00078 7T By Ut 25 2
REBDHBREESBEH —RE—KP
MIHE (BEAMEERE (MEEEEE

BRAZBRELERER) OIHE) -

s ~ AL A R W

W3k (FAREENEEE) HERER
HRERESFTINENEEENERF
&

HAWARKEDHTT

2011 2010

—E——F —T-TF

HK$' 000 HK$' 000

TER FHT

Bank interest income HRATH B WA 1,460 786

Gross rental income ‘HES WA 42 42

Foreign exchange differences, net HNE ZERE 0 F 675 1,239
Reversal of write-down of inventories BE#MREFEE

to net realisable value A] I8 (A 1,535 1,672

Income from a supplier KEHER KA - 27,662

Others Hh 58 65

3,770 31,466
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B 75 3R 3R MY 5
31 March 2011 ZZ2——$=A=+—H
6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. FR¥ AR H
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after N5 H bR B AT AR 2 AR
charging:
2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-FTHF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
it TER FHT
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKAK 1,195,929 696,041
Depreciation: e
Property, plant and equipment M - WE KR EE 13 3,211 1,710
Investment property REME 14 209 209
3,420 1,919
Impairment of an intangible asset* 4 2 & & R B * 15 = 900
Minimum lease payments BELEHENHE
under operating leases HERR 22,630 15,319
Loss on disposal of items of HEME - WEREHE
property, plant and equipment HE 2 EE 1 -
Auditors’ remuneration Z SR B & 1,630 1,850
Employee benefit expense EERBNER (B
(including directors’ E=Me (M 7))
remuneration (note 7)):
Wages and salaries TERSS 104,799 79,427
Pension scheme contributions RAKAE B ET B 450 4,026 1,457
108,825 80,884
Direct operating expenses ARRESHIREME
(including repairs and FIEAXEEEZE
maintenance) arising on a rental- &M (B IEEIE K 4E)
earning investment property 68 55
* The impairment of an intangible asset was included * EBRAERECHTAAHEBERZIE
in “Other expenses” in the consolidated income HmERIA-
statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements Q;,

| MEE -
31 March 2011 —ZE——&H=A=+—H
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 7. EEME
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed BiE EMR B R BB R EHEDIZE 16115
pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the BATRENFANESZMOT :

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Group
rEH
2011 2010
=F-—-F Z—T-TF
HK$’'000 HK$' 000
FET FAT
Fees e 1,777 1,530
Other emoluments: HEMB e -
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMEEDN=
in kind 41,322 33,245
Discretionary bonuses B 1S AT = 10,800
Pension scheme contributions RIREFIFT B3R 82 48
41,404 44,093
43,181 45,623
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31 March 2011 —E——%=ZA=+—H

7. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 7. EEME (8)
(continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BWIUIEHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive REEMNTEIIFNITEENHN
directors during the year were as follows: EWMF
2011 2010
S e
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FHERT THET
Hung Sui Kwan 3k I 1 360 353
Guan Huanfei (note (jii)) 8% IE (B 3£ 296 353
Ma Lishan Bz 360 353
Zhang Min RkE 64 -
1,080 1,059
There were no other emoluments payable to ERNWEEMNBIIEHNITES 2
the independent non-executive directors during Hipe (—E—FF : &) o

the year (2010: Nil).
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Notes to Financial Statements 4

B RMEE -
31 March 2011 ZE——%=A=+—H
7. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 7. EEME (&)
(continued)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive (b) MITESFNIFENITES
directors
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
in kind Discretionary contributions Total
Fees & 28 bonuses RIKEF remuneration
e RENANZE RN HE o8 Hews
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
2011 —B--F
Executive directors: HOESE:
Liang Guoxing (note (i) 220 (B (i) - 29,760 - 12 29,772
Chen Sing Hung Johnny BRI (FT3E(ii))

(note (ii)) - 2,734 - 6 2,740
Chung Wai Man BREX - 2,063 - 6 2,069
Cheung Mei Sze ExXB - 1,040 - 12 1,052
Joseph Marian T E

Laurence Ozorio - 3,000 - 12 3,012
Guan Huanfei (note (iii) % 3F (M 3E(iii) - 1,586 - 3 1,589
Wang Jindong FER - 1,139 - 31 1,170

- 41322 - 82 41,404
Non-executive directors: ~ FFHITEE :
Wu Jie Si RER 480 - - - 480
Chen Sing Hung Johnny BRI 2 217 - - - 217
697 - - - 697
697 41,322 - 82 42,101
2010 Z2-2F
Executive directors: HOEE:
Liang Guoxing (note (i) R BIE (M (i) - 26,760 8,000 12 34,772
Chen Sing Hung Johnny ~ BEFE3 (Fff 35 (i)

(note (ii)) - 3,088 1,000 12 4,100
Chung Wai Man EREX - 2,367 1,000 12 3,379
Cheung Mei Sze EXR - 1,030 800 12 1,842

- 33,245 10,800 48 44,093

Non-executive director: FRTES:
Wu Jie Si RER 471 - - - 471
471 33,245 10,800 43 44,564
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© BB ERERME
31 March 2011 =2 ——F=A=+—H
7. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 7. EBME (&)

(continued)

Notes: Hiat

()  The remuneration of Mr. Liang Guoxing () REEEFEHZ_ZT-——F=H
("Mr. Liang”) for the year ended 31 March 2011 E+T—HIEFENHE BEASE
included a housing benefit with aggregate rentals of BHEEZE - e 4 5,760,000
HK$5,760,000 (2010: HK$5,760,000) incurred by the L (ZZE—Z4 : 5,760,000 7T) °
Group.

(i) Mr. Chen Sing Hung Johnny was re-designated from (i) BEBEEER-_Z-ZTEAA-_+TH
an executive director to a non-executive director of ARBARNBINITESRAETRIFNT
the Company with effect from 25 September 2010. o=

(i)  Mr. Guan Huanfei was re-designated from an iy BRIFEEN-_Z——F—A-+N
independent non-executive director to an executive AEBARABYIFNTERZAER
director of the Company with effect from 28 January HITESE -

2011.

There was no arrangement under which a director FANEEENESREREEMME

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during B HE o

the year.
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I RRMEE ¢
31 March 2011 ZE——F%=HA=+—H
8. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 8. hfumeFMHES
The five highest paid employees during the year FRNRAuUGSFHNEERRENA (=
included four (2010: four) directors, details of whose T-TF NBH)EE FENHEF
remuneration are set out in note 7 above. Details of BEHREXHE7 - FRBT R (ZE
the remuneration of the remaining one (2010: one) —ZF: —R)IEEFSFEENH
non-director, highest paid employee for the year are BEHEBEWT :
as follows:
Group
KEE
2011 2010
—_E——fF —E—FF
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FHET FA&T
Salaries, allowances and benefits e RN EYA &=
in kind 2,990 3,090
Pension scheme contributions RIKTE T B R 12 12
3,002 3,102
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B 7% 3R 3k FfY 5

31 March 2011 ZZ——$=A=+—H

9. INCOME TAX 9. FEM
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate BEBENESBEDRBEARBBEENG
of 16.5% (2010: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable FIERBFEZ165% (ZT—FF :
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes 16.5%) BB A H BB o P EH Ath 3[R 7Y
on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated JERBABERAEBE L EMAEN ADE
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in BENRITHEFENIE -

which the Group operates.

2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FERT FHT
Group: NER -
Current — Hong Kong RE—FH
Charge for the year FRNEA 43,109 57,968
Underprovision MAEFEEENR
in prior years 794 222
Current — Elsewhere AE - H bt [® 125,586 28,997
Deferred (note 24) IR AE (M1 3E24) 209 250
Total tax charge for the year FRHIEE BB 169,698 87,437
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I m&RMEE -
31 March 2011 ZZ——Ff=A=+—H
INCOME TAX (continued) 9. FrEH (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable BEBARARE RERBHMB A BN
to profit before tax at the statutory rate for the TERLERERE AT R EHBRT AT
jurisdiction in which the Company and the majority HEHNHIBEERARRERT R ENRIE
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at BERMYEE  FB0T

the effective tax rate is as follows:

2011 2010
—g2-—-F5 —T-FF
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
THERT FHET
Profit before tax B 56 AT A 754,990 483,586
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEAEMEFENTIE 124,573 79,792
Difference in tax rates enacted WHERBEMEHEZER
by local authorities 38,418 4,887
Adjustments in respect of current MBEHEE B IE
tax of previous periods B A 2 794 222
Income not subject to tax BARB A (2) (482)
Expenses not deductible for tax AATHR B IR R B A 1,609 2,543
Tax losses not recognised RIERO T EE 4,306 475
Tax charge at the effective rate RERBMEFENHIEBEER 169,698 87,437
. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE 10, NP B EERESEE AELE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF = F
THE COMPANY
The consolidated profit attributable to ordinary HE - ET——4%=-—A=+—HIt&EE
equity holders of the Company for the year ended AATEBESEEAEGLSHFE
31 March 2011 includes a profit of HK$198,330,000 o EERAARMBRREREENF
(2010: HK$173,401,000) which has been dealt with 8 5198,330,0008 70 (—ZF — T F -
in the financial statements of the Company (note 173,401,000 7T) (Ff3E26(b)) °
26(b)).
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# Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% 3R = B =
31 March 2011 ZZ2——F=A=+—H
11. DIVIDENDS 1. RE
2011 2010
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
FERT FH T
Dividend paid during the year: ERAXFZKRE :
Final dividend for 2010: HK$0.185 —Z—ZF 7 RHAMK S :
per ordinary share Bk EER0.1858 T 220,150 -
Interim dividend: REIRR S -
HK$0.169 (2010: HK$0.142) g EBER0.16978 T
per ordinary share ZT—TF 014278 7T) 201,110 170,400
421,260 170,400
Dividend proposed: EREZRE
Final dividend: RERE.
HK$0.319 (2010: HK$0.185) BREMAR0.3198 T
per ordinary share ZE T :0.185%7T) 379,610 220,150
The proposed final dividend for the year ended HE-_T——F=A=+—HIEFEZ
31 March 2011 is subject to the approval of the EERHREAFARARRENERER
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual RBFRG FHEIEE - MBHRERITE
general meeting. The financial statements do not = B ST R AR AR B, o

reflect the final dividend payable.
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the Company of
HK$585,292,000 (2010: HK$396,149,000), and the
number of ordinary shares of 1,190,000,000 (2010:
weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,193,936,000).

The weighted average number of ordinary shares
used to calculate the basic earnings per share
amount for the year ended 31 March 2010 had taken
into account 3,800,000 ordinary shares in issue,
896,200,000 ordinary shares issued during the prior
year pursuant to the capitalisation issue as if the
shares had been in issue throughout the prior year,
300,000,000 ordinary shares issued during the prior
year in connection with the Listing and 10,000,000

ordinary shares repurchased during the prior year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares

in issue during those years.

12.

Notes to Financial Statements «-”:.

R EY D
31 March 2011 —E—— % =ZA=+—H

RAREBREAFEARLSE
% 2 A

BREABMNESEDNRFARRAE
BEREA AEMGFES85292,000
BT (ZF —FF :396,149,000/%8
7o) RE@AR A EE 1,190,000,0000%
(ZZE—ZF: TARNMETHER
1,193,936,000/%) 5t & -

ARt EEE-_T—ZTF=A=+—8
LTFEERERRMN N T AR
¥ 15 8B 51 13,800,000% B 3 17 &
Wk RBERMEETEREFRNET
#7896,200,000/% & i A% (404 5 A 15
REFAN—BEDEEIT)  FETHR
2 9 R % 47 #9300,000,0000% 3 38 A% -

LA R B4 25 5F A B2 [B1 #910,000,0004% & 38

B e

AEBAENEFEYEABEHETE
ZEBETEBR -
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Elr' Notes to Financial Statements

BF 75 ¥R Ak Y A

31 March 2011 —Z——%=ZA=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. W% - BER&RE

Group AN S
Furniture
Leasehold and fixtures Office Motor
improvements HME  equipment vehicles Total
RENEEE ETEE BOZERE "E &3
HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$' 000
FEL FEL FEL FEL FHL
31 March 2011 “B--fZA=t-H
At 31 March 2010 and RZZ-ZF=ZA=+t-HER
at 1 April 2010: RZZ-TEMA-R:
Cost KA 2,587 6,974 2,907 11,633 24,101
Accumulated depreciation ZHE (1,476) (6,224) (1,960) (6,050) (15,710)
Net carrying amount FEFE 1,111 750 947 5,583 8,391
At 1 April 2010, net of RZZ2-ZEMA-R-
accumulated depreciation NGRZHE 1,11 750 947 5,583 8,391
Additions NE 1,987 565 1433 1,956 5,941
Disposals e - - (1) - (1)
Depreciation provided during ERRERE
the year (778) (223) (525) (1,685) (3,211)
Exchange realignment ERAE 28 - 38 46 112
At 31 March 2011, net of R-Z2——%=ZA=+-H"
accumulated depreciation NGRZHTE 2,348 1,092 1,882 5,900 11,222
At 31 March 2011: RZB-——F=ZA=+-H:
Cost KA 4,673 7,539 4,393 13,688 30,293
Accumulated depreciation ZHHE (2,325) (6,447) (2,511) (7,788) (19,071)
Net carrying amount FEFE 2,348 1,092 1,882 5,900 11,222
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Notes to Financial Statements Q;,

IR EE ¢
31 March 2011 ZE——&%=fA=+—H
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % BMERKE (8)
(continued)
Group PN E
Furniture
Leasehold and fixtures Office Motor
improvements &K equipment vehicles Total
HENXEL ETHEE BOERE RE Bt

HK$'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEAL TEAL TAL TAL TiEn

31 March 2010 ZE-ZF=f=1+-H
At 1 April 2009: RZZENENA-H:

Cost A 1,773 6,253 2,335 8,303 18,664

Accumulated depreciation ZiTE (973) (6,174) (1,682) (5,935) (14,764)

Net carrying amount RHFE 800 79 653 2,368 3,900
At 1 April 2009, net of RZZENENA-R-

accumulated depreciation NREHIE 800 79 653 2,368 3,900
Additions RE 808 721 589 4,087 6,205
Disposals e - = (12) = (12)
Depreciation provided during FRRERRE

the year (499) (50) (284) (877) (1,710)
Exchange realignment ELRE 2 - 1 5 8
At 31 March 2010, net of W_E-FEZfA=1+-H"

accumulated depreciation NBE2iIE 1,111 750 947 5,583 8,391
At 31 March 2010: W-ZT-ZEZA=1+-H:

Cost A 2,587 6,974 2,907 11,633 24,101

Accumulated depreciation 2EME (1,476) (6,224) (1,960) (6,050) (15,710)

Net carrying amount RHFE 1,1 750 947 5,583 8,391
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E:r Notes to Financial Statements

BF %5 ¥R AR BT R
31 March 2011 = ——F=A=+—H
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 14. WA=
Group
rEME
2011 2010
—2-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FER FET
Carrying amount at 1 April REA—BrEREE 7,757 7,966
Depreciation provided during the year FAFERE (209) (209)
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—BmREA 7,548 7,757
Fair value at 31 March R=ZA=t—HB®AF¥ER 15,350 12,550
The Group's investment property is held under a long REBHIEEMEMNEE  YIBEE
term lease and situated in Hong Kong. HFEEA -
The Group’s investment property was revalued on AREFBWEEYWERN T ——&F= A
31 March 2011 by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting =+ — BB EE A BRI ER R
Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, HMEENHERAR AT ARSI
at HK$15,350,000 (2010: HK$12,550,000) on an B P38 ELE S 1 A B B 515,350,0005%
open market, existing use basis. The investment T(=ZE—F4F : 12,550,000 7T) © %
property is leased to third parties under an operating EREMECRBELEERELRFE=
lease, further summary details of which are included o OHE—SHEEBSHNATERE
in note 29(a) to the financial statements. B EE29(a) o
At 31 March 2011, the Group’s investment property R-T——F=F=4+—8 4&A&EH
with a carrying value of HK$7,548,000 (2010: BE A {B7,548,0008 1T (=& — T &
HK$7,757,000) was pledged to secure general 7,757,000 7T) M8 E M ¥ B E 5K
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 23). o ODUERE P AEEMN —RIBITRE

(Mt3E23) o
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSET

Notes to Financial Statements 4

AR RMEE ¢
31 March 2011 —E——F%=ZA=+—H

15. BILEE

Group
rEE
Club
membership
BFES
HK$' 000
T T
At 1 April 2009: RZZEZRFMONA—H:
Cost (DN 8,300
Accumulated impairment ZFHRE -
Net carrying amount FREFAE 8,300
Cost at 1 April 2009, net of A RZZEZNFMA—H -
accumulated impairment Mk 25HRE 8,300
Impairment during the year FARE (900)
At 31 March 2010 WZE—ZFF=A=+—H 7,400
At 31 March 2010, 1 April 2010 and RZE—ZTF=A=+—8"
31 March 2011: —T-TFMA-BR
—ET——FZAZ+—A8:
Cost (DN 8,300
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (900)
Net carrying amount BREFE 7,400
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E:r Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% R 3= MY &%
31 March 2011 ZE——F=A=+—H
16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 6. RMBARIHNERE
Company
PN
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-EF
HKS$’'000 HK$' 000
FET FET
Unlisted shares, at cost JEETRG - EBEAE 229,588 229,588
Amounts due from subsidiaries A IEENGIE 680,849 635,749
Amount due to a subsidiary R EENGIE ] = (23,223)
910,437 842,114

Balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest- HfBATIMEREH 5EEKM - 8
free and have no fixed terms of repayment. R E T EEHR -
Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: MELRFBEET :
Nominal value
of issued Percentage of
Place of ordinary share/ equity attributable
incorporation/ registered to the Company
registration paid-up capital Direct  Indirect
and operations BROZAER/ RATER
Name MR/ FRIE-§ REFAE Principal activities
28 AR EE EXmE =% B TEER
Fast Boom Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 100 Investment holding
AEERERA Hong Kong ESi REER
EREBARES /B
Richmind International Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 100 - Investment holding
BREBRERD Hong Kong (E5 BREZR
REBERRES /B
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(continued)

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Place of
incorporation/

registration

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary share/
registered

paid-up capital

Notes to Financial Statements «-”:.

B 7% ¥R AR BT RE

31 March 2011 —E—— % =ZA=+—H

16. RIB R RHIRE (8)

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company

Direct  Indirect

and operations BROTLER/ RAFER
Name BRI/ Bz REBDL Principal activities
£ AR EE EXmE B BE TEXR
Silver Base Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Inactive
REZRFRAA EE AT BETER
Silver Base Healthcare Products Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Inactive
Investment Company Limited B AT BETER
RERERREBERAR
Silver Base Investment Hong Kong HKS$ 1 - 100 Trading of red wine
Development Limited B iy RS
REREERBEBRAA
Silver Base International Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 International distribution
Development Co. Limited B 28T of liquor and cigarette
REBBEERERAR products
BREHEEER
Silver Base Retail Management Limited Hong Kong HKS 1 - 100 Inactive
RETEERBERAA B ey BENER
Silver Base Tobacco Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100 Distribution of cigarettes
REEEERAR B 10,000,000/ 7T RHEEE
Silver Base Trading and Development  People’s Republic US$36,450,000 - 100 Distribution of liquor
(Shenzhen) Co. Limited* of China (“PRC") 36,450,000% 1T products in the PRC

RERFER (RY)BERLAF

FEARANE
(TRE))
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BF 75 ¥R AR BT R

31 March 2011 —Z——%=ZA=+—H

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Place of
incorporation/

registration

16. RITB R THIRE (8)

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary share/
registered

paid-up capital

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company

Direct Indirect

and operations BROTLER/ RAFER
Name BRI/ B REBDL Principal activities
£ SRS EXEE B MiE IEEK
Silver Base Wine & Spirit Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Distribution of Dimple
REFERRAA BE 10,0005 T Scotch Whisky
BEFEHBRRALE
Silver Base Wine & Spirit PRC HK$113,600,000 - 100 Distribution of liquor
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.* i 113,600,000/ T products in the PRC
REFE (ORI BRAR market
RPEmSEHEER
* Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under BEPBEEAEFMAOIIEBEBEDLE -
the PRC law.
17. INVENTORIES 17. 78§
Group
2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
THERT THET
Merchandise 459,801 293,462
Packaging materials R 20,465 21,128
480,266 314,590
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Notes to Financial Statements «-”:.

AR

31 March 2011 —E——F%=ZA=+—H

18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 18. B E ZREK EWREIE
Group
r&EH

2011 2010

—F-—-F% —ZT-ZF

HK$'000 HK$" 000

FTER THETT

Trade receivables e E HFRIAE 470,349 18,053
Bills receivable PR IR 240,667 25,229
711,016 43,282
The Group normally allows a credit period of not AEE—BHREFEHIZNO0BME
more than 90 days to its customers except for certain BH . S EEERER LSS B E
identified major customers where longer credit terms % ETOHRNIERE O EREER
may be granted upon approval by the credit control KB - EWEE Y B — #2560
team and management. The credit terms of bills Z180H o« NEEH H YR EBHEW
receivable are generally 60 to 180 days. The Group SIEREREEE - SREIEES FH
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding ERBHIES - EWE 5 ZIAL ST
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly BiE5A% (T —T4F 1 37%) AR
by senior management. Over 54% (2010: 37%) of JEWNRLZEEHEHE - ERESZIER

the trade receivables balance represented receivables UL E I AR A o

from five customers. Trade and bills receivables are

non-interest-bearing.
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B 75 R 3% M 5

31 March 2011 —Z—— & =/A=+—H

18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 1. EWESZREREKRERE
(continued) (#&)

RBEMRO K E S HAREREE
HEZEHNRERINAOT

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables at

the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

Group

rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$' 000
THER FHET
Within 2 months mAE AR 655,497 38,618
2 to 6 months —E=XREA 32,692 4,596
6 months to 1 year NEAE—F 22,786 7
Over 1 year —FLE 41 61
711,016 43,282

The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables

that are not individually nor collectively considered to

be impaired is as follows:

W ARARSE @RI kR EN R E
AR EBREEORESNOT

Group

rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’'000 HK$' 000
THER FHET
Neither past due nor impaired RBEARARRE 710,139 42,857
Less than 60 days past due 2R H AP R6e0H 644 357
Over 60 days past due B iR HAE®e0Ha 233 68
711,016 43,282

R e AR B E UK IR B — Lk ST
HiERCHENAEXTF AR -

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a number of customers for whom there was

no recent history of default.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BF 75 ¥R AR BT R

31 March 2011 —E—— % =ZA=+—H

3

18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 1B ERESRERERERE
(continued) (%)
Receivables that were past due but not impaired B 38 BB 30 AR R (B BY 8 UK IR B — e
relate to a number of independent customers that AEEERHFEERBNELEFRA
have a good track record with the Group. Based on B RBRATNKER  ARARESTAR
past experience, the directors of the Company are BERBHEEMREL RERE BRI
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is EERNEELAZEZYURMARRAZ
necessary in respect of these balances as there has R EZELEH - NEBEZSEHT
not been a significant change in credit quality and AFBEENEERKEMEERESE
the balances are still considered fully recoverable. i
The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over these balances.
19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 19. FERRIE - e R HMEUWRR
RECEIVABLES 18
Group Company
r5H VAN
2011 2010 2011 2010
2% —“T-TF ZB--Ff _—T-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
THER FET THER TET
Deposits paid to suppliers REERL N2 ES 396,635 253,132 = -
Prepayments SELRE ¢ 6,723 7,158 = 6,500
Other deposits and receivables ~ HbiZ & K E U A 36,656 27,583 55 -
440,014 287,873 55 6,500

None of the above assets is either past due or
impaired. The financial assets included in the above
balances relate to receivables for which there was no
recent history of default.

Include in the Group’s “Deposits paid to suppliers”
is a purchase prepayment of RMB16,300,000 (2010:
Nil), paid to Guizhou Yaxi Liquors Co., Ltd. (Z /M
BEEEARRAG]) ("Guizhou Yaxi”), a company
beneficially owned by a close family member of
Mr. Liang, the chairman and an executive director of
the Company (note 31(c)). The balance is unsecured
and interest-free.

Included in the Group’'s “Other deposits and
receivables” is a rental deposit of HK$1,438,000
(2010: HK$1,438,000), placed with Silver Base
(Holdings) Limited, a company controlled by
Mr. Liang, the chairman and an executive director of
the Company (note 31(c)). The balance is unsecured,
interest-free and is repayable at the end of the lease
term.

—T - - EH

A EEERBEEIBE o A L EERAT
BN S RNE E BT Y EIE R AL ER
FEWHRIEE R -

AEB[AEEENZES |PEIED
MEMBZEEERAF ([EMBEEX])
S HEEIENHIAEARE16,300,000
TL(ZE—ZF &) - BMNBEAAR
RAEREENTESREENERER S
B (MIsE31(0) - ZEHAEEITFRE

B o
1SN

AEBZ [ HiiEe RERFE] BET
BRRE(EE)BERAR(—KBALXA
AERRRMTESRAEESNAF)
M E%R4£1,438,0008 L (2 —=
4 11,438,000 70) (MI7E31(0)) ° 7% &5
A - 2B RAREYERE
MR EE -

REEBEBEZREAERQF




E:r Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% 3R 2% MY &E

31 March 2011 =2 ——F=A=+—H

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 20. R RWITHEER
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and RIERR - NEBUARKINERNSE
bank balances of the Group denominated in © RIRTTH 82 575,072,6758 0 (=&
Renminbi (“RMB"”) amounted to HK$75,072,675 —Z4F 1 204,783,695/87C) - ARBT
(2010: HK$204,783,695). RMB is not freely AEAEBRREMER - A RIED
convertible into other currencies, however, under BIECONEB IR R(GEE - EER
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control NEBERE)  ARERLESBER
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale REIRITIAREHMRABINELEITINE
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, 7o

the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct

foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based RITRSIETGHRTREBFNENZEHR
on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are HEREVNE, o $RITAE B8 2 17 N0 3T Y
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent BARBEMEEBBERNIRT -

history of default.

21. TRADE PAYABLES 21. BB S RA
An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end RBERREZANNENE S NIEB
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is BERE AT T -
as follows:
Group
AEHE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TER FHT
Within 1 month —fEAR 513 27,069
Over 3 months ={E AL 15 3
528 27,072
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are ENESFERRER—MKIA0R AR
normally settled on 90-day terms. ©HE -
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Notes to Financial Statements Q;,

BF 7% ¥R AR BT R

31 March 2011 —E——F%=ZA=+—H

22. DEPOSITS RECEIVED, OTHER PAYABLES 22. EWWET & ~ HMttENRIERE
AND ACCRUALS FTEE
Group Company
AEE ADT
2011 2010 2011 2010
22— —Z-%F ZE-——-F —ZT-TF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$ 000
THER FET THER TET
Deposits from customers AEP KB ES 47,793 17,240 = -
Value-added tax ("VAT") FEfIEER (EER))
payables 98,184 14,278 - -
Other payables H A e KA 3,386 1,752 = -
Accruals B E 9,937 6,361 6 32
159,300 39,631 6 32

ENEERIEBENKIBERRERTF
BREB=@A -

VAT payables and other payables are non-interest-

bearing and have an average term of three months.

23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 23. ;T EIRTEE
BORROWINGS
Group 2011 2010
AEE o —-2f
Contractual Contractual

interest rate interest rate

BRRE Maturity HK$’ 000 BHFIE Maturity HK$' 000
(%) EE)E TER (%) s TRET
Current
L
Trust receipt loans Bank best lending Bank best lending
- secured rate minus 1% rate minus 1%
ERREER ROTREE RORER
-CER REMEHE1% 2011 62,899 EER X% 2010 96,782
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B % 3R = B =
31 March 2011 ZZ——$=A=+—H
23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 23. s RRITEE (&)
BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes: Hiat
(@)  As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s banking facilities (@ MRZZE——F=ZA=Z+—H &%
were secured by the Group’s investment property BEREHNRTHREBRAEBEER
with a carrying value of HK$7,548,000 (2010: 8 57,548,000 L (=& — T F :
HK$7,757,000) (note 14) and a corporate guarantee 7,757,000 70) (51 14) B94% &E ¥ %
provided by the Company. LA R ZR A R P IR L) A RIFE IR VAR -
(b)  The trust receipt loans denominated in United States (b)  MAETIMERETWIEERN60E90
dollars were interest-free within a credit period of 60 ANEERANALE  NEEHEZA
to 90 days and bore interest at the bank’s Foreign RETHINEREEEENER1%
Currency Best Lending Rate minus 1% (2010: Foreign (Z2—ZF  HNEREEEENER
Currency Best Lending Rate minus 1%) after the 1%) 5T B - FTAEFRBIEEFRHNE
credit period. All trust receipt loans were fully settled BEHEANEEERE -
within the credit period.
24. DEFERRED TAX 24. IEIERLIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the BEEFIHEEERFAZEBHNT
year are as follows:
Group AN

Depreciation allowance
in excess of related

depreciation

MERHEERERETE
HK$' 000
FET
At 1 April 2009 RZZETZNFNHA—H -
Deferred tax charged to the income FRREBRFRINR CELERIA
statement during the year (note 9) (B7E9) 250
At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010 RZE—ZEF=A=+—H
RZZT—FFMA—H 250
Deferred tax charged to the income FAREB =R FR N 2 LT IE
statement during the year (note 9) (BF5E9) 209
At 31 March 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H 459
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24. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong
of HK$4,716,000 (2010: HK$2,047,000) that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses

arose.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland
China of HK$17,743,000 (2010: HK$4,396,000)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profit. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these losses
as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against

which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China
in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

24.

Notes to Financial Statements

R EY D
31 March 2011 —E——F%=ZA=+—H

R IE ()
REBEEBES 2 HIEEE4,716,000
BIL(ZE—ZF : 2,047,000/ 70 ) A 48
PREAFIEIRSEE £ BB 2 AR 2 RKFE
AR o

AEBNEAEERPREABEEEA 2B E
E51817,743,0008 L (ZZ — T F -
4,396,000 7T) R —E L F NI E
ZEMIBE B D HAT A AER R R K
JERTAE - ARZEEEIREZE
EE—BRECHBAR  BTRASR
AR ERT A AR E B BER -
W AREREARTEHIEEE -

RIFPEBEMEVE - KNP ERMAK
VZINERRAEIMNEES HZBE
BEBI0% AN - REAREB-F
ENF-A-ARER HAR_FT
tF+_A=T—HURELZEF -
fief o B P 3 B2 5 SR SMR B P RDA
e AT ARBEHE @ BRI
BHHEHH - AAKEME - BAKR
K R/5%FH10% » Bt - AEB AR
REAMRIZZMBRARR —TTN\F
—A—BUBRELEZENMADIKZKE
MBI -
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24. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 24, EER A (&)
At 31 March 2011, no deferred tax has been R_ZT——F=ZA=+—8 ¥ERK
recognised for withholding taxes that would & E R A B A A S 2 T B R BB SR
be payable on the unremitted earnings that TEIR 2 REL BT 2 ERTENFHER
are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's BERIE -EFERE - LUWBARE
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the AFERRRTKRAIGEDIRABBRETN o 1
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that —E——F=ZfA=+—8 " mABERTF
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in BRI B AR ZRE TR EERR
the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of A H#A463,596,0008 T (- E—F
temporary differences associated with investments £ :193,162,000870) °

in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately HK$463,596,000 at 31 March 2011
(2010: HK$193,162,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching AAERAEREIRERS - WM AT
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its AMmEHzER -

shareholders.

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. R
2011 2010
e e
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
TExT THET
Authorised: ETE
100,000,000,000 100,000,000,000/8%
(2010: 100,000,000,000) (ZZ—2Z4 :100,000,000,0000%)
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREEC. BT LK 10,000,000 10,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIRER:
1,190,000,000 1,190,000,000%
(2010: 1,190,000,000) (ZZ—Z4 :1,190,000,000/% )
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SRAEEC1EITH L Bk 119,000 119,000
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 25. Hﬁﬁ(%)
During the year ended 31 March 2010, the HE-Z—ZTF=A=1T—HLFE
h$@@%ﬂ@?r

movements in share capital were as follows:

Pursuant to a written resolution passed on 20
February 2009, the directors were authorised
to issue and allot a total of 896,200,000 shares
credited as fully paid to Yinji Investments
by way of capitalisation of the sum of
HK$89,620,000 standing to the credit of the
share premium account of the Company. The
shares issued and allotted pursuant to this
resolution rank pari passu in all respects with

the existing issued shares.

On 8 April 2009, the Company issued
300,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.1
each for cash pursuant to the Company’s initial
public offering at a price of HK$3.45 per share
to the public for listing of those shares on the

Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the
Company repurchased its own ordinary shares
on the Stock Exchange. All ordinary shares
repurchased during the year ended 31 March
2010 were cancelled, and the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by the
par value of the repurchased ordinary shares
so cancelled. The premium of HK$30,856,000
paid for the repurchase of the ordinary shares
was charged to the share premium account.
An amount equivalent to the par value of the
ordinary shares cancelled was transferred to
the capital redemption reserve as set out in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity.

BER_ZETZNF_RA=-+H
RBNEERER EFERE
BARARDEERET A
89,620,000/ 7T 2 # iR & A1k
FELAMAYinji Investments# 77 & Be
%4 $£896,200,0000% A BR 71 VE 4K
R o IRIBZARRREIT R E
WRHEREEHTRODESH
EHAZHERSER -

RZZZTAFMANAR + AAFIR
BREAAREEREREEE3.45
& JC I A R E£47300,000,000% &
[ TE B0. 178 7T 89 37 & 8 IR A ER
Be  BZEROEF LT -

RBE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=+—H
IEFE - $ﬂﬂ%ﬂﬁﬁxﬁﬁﬁ%@$%
2EBR - MTERBE_T—TF
EHE+—E¢¢F§E§@Z%@
RE FHEHE - MARBZEBITR
AEEMERYCEHZ EBR
WEEmRD - REEEERmE
5 #9344 {830,856,000/% 7T B 1A %
D mERTHI - & HHERE

FFTE - EEREFETRREE
ZEBEEEBAERNEL RS -
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

25. RS ()

Number Share
of shares Issued premium
in issue capital  account Total
ERITRG 2RI & 5
#E (&S RER st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET TiET FET
At 1 April 2009 RZETNEF
mA—H 3,800,000 380 - 380
Capitalisation issue (a) BEARME1T(a) 896,200,000 89,620 (89,620) -
Issue of shares (b) 171D (b) 300,000,000 30,000 1,005,000 1,035,000
Repurchase of shares (c) 8% 0] A% 17 () (10,000,000) (1,000)  (30,856)  (31,856)
1,190,000,000 119,000 884,524 1,003,524
Share issue expenses fE1p 31 TRISE - - (46,886)  (46,886)
At 31 March 2010 R_E—FF
—A=+—H 1,190,000,000 119,000 837,638 956,638
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26. RESERVES

(a)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and

the movements therein for the current and

prior years are presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity.

(i)

(ii)

The Group's capital reserve represents the
differences between the nominal value
of the shares issued by the Company and
the aggregate of the share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired upon the group

reorganisation prior to the Listing.

In accordance with the PRC Company
Law, the Company’s subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10% of the annual statutory
profit after tax (after offsetting any
prior years’ losses) to the statutory
surplus reserve. When the balance of
the reserve fund reaches 50% of the
entity’s registered capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory
surplus reserve can be utilised to offset
prior years' losses or to increase capital.
However, the balance of the statutory
surplus reserve must be maintained at a
minimum of 25% of registered capital

after such usages.

Notes to Financial Statements «h
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26. %15

(a) AKEH
AEERFERBTFENRE
SHEREFHBERIN A MR
BE)EK -

(i) AEENEXFEEHEART
EEITROEERR LA
#) &= (B 25 48 1% P W B O P BB
REIMRABENZE -

(i WEHPBEREDE  ARER
R S A BT B A RS R
10%%F &5 & B B iz 5B
(CEHBTFENEME
BRIBBEZEITRHBAOE
o ERBLAEBEI TR
B FE & RE50% 5 - AR
B F] A B 1 A AT R AN B
FTexEBMNESAIAE
HEBEFEHEEIIL M
BAR M EERBAE
LRAELILRSRE &8y
ARFER/TLREME R
25% °
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26. RESERVES (continued) 26. f#E (&)
(b) Company (b) A A
Retained
profits/
Share Capital (accumulated
premium Capital  redemption loss)
account reserve reserve  RENE/ Total

RtaEk - ExfE EARORE (RHER) 3

Notes HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$' 000 HK$" 000

it TEL TERL TERL TiEn TERL
(note (i)

(H3(0)

At 1 April 2009 R-ZRAERA-H - 229208 - (12000 228,008
Profit for the year and ERFERENZE

total comprehensive WABE

income for the year - - - 173,401 173,401
Capitalisation issue e &:361 25(3) (89,620) - - - (89,620)
Issue of shares Bk 25(b) 1,005,000 - - - 1,005,000
Share issue expenses RH%ETER (46,386) - - - (46,886)
Repurchase of shares Bk 25(c) (30,856) - 1,000 (1,000) (30,856)
Interim 2010 dividend “F-TERHRE " - - - (170,400 (170,400)
At31March2010and  RZE-2F=R=1-H

at 1 April 2010 k-ZE-Z2FMA-A 837,638 229,208 1,000 801 1,068,647
Profit for the year and ERFBERENZE

total comprehensive DON-+

income for the year - - - 198,330 198,330
Final 2010 dividend “2-TERERE " (220,150) - - - (220150
Interim 2011 dividend “EF--ERHRE " - - - 01,1100 (201,110)
At 31 March 2011 R-F-——%=A=t-H 617,488 229,208 1,000 (19790 845717
Note: it -
()  The Company’s capital reserve represents () ARAMERFEREBREEESAEMN

the excess of the net book values of the Wiz FE ) PR B8 X R B TS (EER M AT IR ER
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group ARARBEEITROHEENZLD -

reorganisation over the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
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27.

28.

29.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

At the end of the reporting period, there was a
contingent liability not provided for in the financial
statements of the Company in respect of a guarantee
given to a bank in connection with a facility granted
to subsidiaries of the Company of HK$262,000,000
(2010: HK$262,000,000). As at 31 March 2011,
the banking facility granted to those subsidiaries
subject to the guarantee given to the bank by the
Company was utilised to the extent of approximately
HK$62,899,000 (2010: HK$96,782,000) (note 23).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for securing
bank borrowings and banking facilities during the
year are included in notes 14 and 23, respectively, to

the financial statements.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a) As lessor
The Group leases its investment property
(note 14 to the financial statements) under
an operating lease arrangement, with lease
negotiated for a term of two years. The terms
of the lease generally also require the tenant to

pay security deposits.

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under the
non-cancellable operating lease with its tenant
falling due within one year of HK$2,000 (2010:
HK$2,000).

27.

28.

29.

Notes to Financial Statements
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HREE
RBEBRR - BE—EHWER KRR R B
BRPEBHE o XAEE  DHERERF
B 8 X 7] 1%262,000,0008 T (= F
—Z4F 1 262,000,000 7T ) 2 B & i 4]
—MERITIREER - RZT——F=H
=+—8 - REAQRAZIBITREZ
AR FBR il i 5% T 52 5 M8 2 8 2 $R1T
BE - FTEI AR 2 & ¥4 /262,899,000
BT (ZZE—ZF 1 96,782,000/ 7T)
(Mi5E23) ©

BEKH
REBRKAFERESRITEES RRT
MEMEREENFBD RIFN AR
HwEMFE14R23 -

CEMHERH

(@) 1ERHEA
AEERBEEHERHAER
RANE MBBREME14) &
ERGEENHRAME - HEHRR
—BRINEREMAX HERES -

R-ZT——F=A=+—H &%
EIiE3 e wE SN T VA= Ol N =
HEERER —F N D HRER
B K SR &K E X IB 4858 452,000
BIL(ZE—ZF :2,00087T) °

T - -F 5 REEBERAERXA ]69




Elr Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% ¥R R MY aE
31 March 2011 ZZ2——F=A=+—H
29. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 29. eEHEZH (&)
(continued)
(b) As lessee (b) tEAEIMEA
The Group leases certain of its office premises AEEREEERERHELES
and warehouses under operating lease FHMAESEMRERE - BAMFEZ
arrangements. Leases for properties are HERBNFNERE=F2HH
negotiated for terms ranging from nine months HEITRER -

to three years.

At 31 March 2011, the Group had total future RZE——F=A=+—H &%
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable EREIAIGHEEHEN DB
operating leases falling due as follows: REMNORREERERIBEE
BEBEET :
Group
rEHE
2011 2010
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
FERT FHET
Within one year —F R 31,691 19,701
In the second to fifth years, E-FRERF
inclusive (BREEEMTE) 23,558 11,499
55,249 31,200
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30. COMMITMENTS 30. HEE
In addition to the operating lease commitments BR b SCPTsE29(b) FTaF il /Y & i A0 E R dE
detailed in note 29(b) above, the Group had the Gy KREBRBEPREUNTBERFE
following inventory purchase commitments at the A

end of the reporting period:

Group
FEE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-FF
HKS$’ 000 HK$' 000
THET FHET
Within one year —F R 1,652,908 1,146,428
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FEERF
(BREREMSF) 8,419,812 7,792,770
Over five years HFLE 5,766,036 6,370,367

15,838,756 15,309,565

- F5FH REEEEREAERLQF ]7]
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. BB ARG
(@) In addition to the transactions detailed (a) BRAHEmEREAMAIL D ATEFLLD
elsewhere in these financial statements, the RSHN » REBRAFE HEFE
Group had the following material transactions BDETATERRS :

with related parties during the year:

Group
FiN-
2011 2010
—E-—-F —T-TF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
ok THERT FHEL
Mr. Liang: REHE
Rental expenses HEB (i) 1,064 763
Silver Base (Holdings) Limited: RE(EBE)BRAR:
Rental expenses HEER (i) 8,628 8,628
Guizhou Yaxi: EINEEE
Purchase of inventories REGFE (iii) 13,545 -
A related company: —FEs AR
Sale of inventories HERFE (iv) 9 -
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. BB AR S (8)
(continued)
(@) (continued) (@) (&)

Notes:

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The office rental expenses of two office
premises for the year ended 31 March 2011
were charged by Mr. Liang, an executive
director of the Company, based on mutually
agreed terms at fixed monthly amounts
of RMB57,300 (2010: RMB37,000) and
RMB19,000 (2010: RMB19,000), respectively.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the rental expenses were determined by
reference to the prevailing market rental of
comparable premises.

The rental expenses of an office premise and
a staff quarter for the years ended 31 March
2011 and 2010 were charged by Silver Base
(Holdings) Limited, a company controlled by
Mr. Liang, based on mutually agreed terms at
fixed monthly amounts of HK$239,000 and
HK$480,000, respectively. In the opinion of the
directors, the rental expenses were determined
by reference to the prevailing market rental of
comparable premises.

The purchases for the year ended 31 March
2011 were made based on mutually agreed
terms between the Group and Guizhou Yaxi, a
company controlled by a close family member
of Mr. Liang. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the purchase prices were
not less favourable than the terms available to
other independent third parties for purchases
of inventories of comparable quantity.

The sales for the year ended 31 March 2011
were made based on mutually agreed terms
between the Group and the related company
beneficially owned by Mr. Joseph Marian
Laurence Ozorio, an executive director of the
Company, in relation to red wine products.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

HE-_ZT——F=A=+—H
FTEENREBBRIEZHAE
HEERADHARRWRTES
RELEREEERENBKER
REABRESEINAARE
57,300 (ZZE—ZFF : AR
37,0007T) & A R #19,0007T
(ZZT—ZF : AR¥19,0007T)
WEL - ARBIEERA - HEH
TS ERA L BRMENE RIS
HeEmERE -

HE_Z——FR-_ZT—FF
A=+—RHIEFEH—BHQ
MER—FAEIFeNRES
TEHBE(EE)BRAF(—R
AREEEHINRR) BEEER
AEMGR - ZSAETeES
7l £239,0005% 7t 480,000/
TTWE - EERE - MEREZT
SEALBYENEITMSHES
MmEE °

=i I

BE_T——F=A=+—HILk
FENREZRBEAEEEEM
R (—KARKENEFTIE
BB AR RBAE R B A R
BT AAREFERRE KBE
WABRRRE AT L RBEENTF
&AL E = R A A

e
N

BE_T——F=A=+—HLk
FEMHERREA LB EZE
BRAR(—HKALRARRNITES
FEESEERERERNLDA)
HADB E m A8 B R B8 R TOE
T

T - -FHF5H REEBERAERXA ]73
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b)

Other transactions with related parties:

(i)

(ii)

Pursuant to a deed of indemnity dated
25 March 2009, Mr. Liang agreed to
provide the Group taxation indemnities
for the benefit of the companies now
comprising the Group. The provisions are
conditional on the same conditions stated
in the paragraph headed “Conditions of
the Hong Kong Public Offering” in the
section headed “Structure of the Global
Offering” in the prospectus issued by the
Company dated 30 March 2009 becoming
unconditional on or before 31 December
2009, or such other date as the parties
to this deed may agree failing which this
deed shall become null and void and

cease to have any effect whatsoever.

The personal guarantee provided by
Mr. Liang in relation to the Group’s
general banking facilities was released

upon the Listing.

Outstanding balances with related
parties:

Details of the Group’s rental deposits placed

with Silver Base (Holdings) Limited and

prepayments to Guizhou Yaxi as at the end of

the reporting period are disclosed in note 19 to

the financial statements.
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. BB AR S (8)
(continued)
(d) Compensation of key management d) AEEFEZEEABHRH :

personnel of the Group:

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’' 000 HK$' 000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and e RBNEYH G
benefits in kind 55,281 56,438
Pension scheme contributions RIKAEFET B 3 334 198
55,615 56,636
The balance includes compensation of Ms. Luo BREBRBRIEERN LT (BAERL
Li, the spouse of Mr. Liang of HK$3,002,000 B BLB) 7 % BH3,002,0007% 7T
(2010: HK$3,102,000). Further details of (ZZ—Z4 : 3,102,000 7T) °
directors’ emoluments are included in note 7 to EEMEeE —FTHBERTB
the financial statements. WERMFET -

T - -FHF5H REEBERAERXA ]75
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32. FAIR VALUE 32. A¥EE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial instruments approximate to

their fair values.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument
could be exchanged in a current transaction between
willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were

used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of trade and bills receivables,
current portion of deposits and other receivables,
balances with subsidiaries, cash and bank balances,
trade payables, deposits received, other payables
and accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to

the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of the non-current portion of deposits
has been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments on similar terms, credit risk and

remaining maturities.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 33. @M T EMER
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of EHNem T AN REHRNEEMBEN
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting ™

period are as follows:

Group
rEH
Loans and receivables
BERREWRNRE
2011 2010
—E——-F —ZT-ZF
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FET FHET
Trade and bills receivables fEWE 558 K e EE 711,016 43,282
Financial assets included in FFATERN IR - Ee
prepayments, deposits and T Ho At & R IR K
other receivables TREE 36,656 35,090
Cash and bank balances B RRTER 339,282 977,748
1,086,954 1,056,120
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
RBEHAIENEREE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E—FF
HKS$’ 000 HK$' 000
FHERT FET
Trade payables JETE 558 528 27,072
Financial liabilities included in deposits T AT UWET & - EAth fE S
received, other payables and accruals HIBEREETEER
TREBIE 13,323 8,113
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERITEE 62,899 96,782
76,750 131,967
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

33. T EMER (8)

Company
P NN
Loans and receivables
ERREWRRE
2011 2010
i —_E-FF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
THER FHET
Due from subsidiaries R NETE ] 680,849 635,749
Cash and bank balances e RIRITERR 54,231 339,065
Other deposits and receivables H bk & & W ERIE 55 -
735,135 974,814
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
RBERAIENEREE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-FF
HKS$’ 000 HK$' 000
FHERT FET
Accruals st aE 6 32
Due to subsidiaries XL NEIE ] = 23,223
6 23,255
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings, and cash and
bank balances. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade and bills receivables, deposits and other
receivables and other payables and trade payables,

which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing

each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s
interest-bearing bank borrowings with floating
interest rates. The contractual interest rates and
terms of repayment of the interest-bearing bank
borrowings of the Group are set out in note 23 to

these financial statements.

A reasonably possible change of 50 basis points in
interest rates would have no material impact on the
Group’s income statement during the year and there
would be no impact on the Group’s equity (excluding

retained earnings).

Notes to Financial Statements »h
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT M. ERMEEEERBEK

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures.
Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by
operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies. For Hong Kong operations, all
sales and purchases transactions are settled in Hong
Kong dollar or United States dollar. Meanwhile,
most of the sales and purchases transactions in the
PRC operations are settled in RMB. Accordingly, the
transactional currency exposures of the Group are
not significant. The Group has not entered into any
hedging transaction to reduce the Group’s exposure

to foreign currency risk in this regard.

A reasonably possible appreciation of 5% of the
exchange rate of the Hong Kong dollar against RMB
would have decreased profit before tax of the Group
by HK$350,000 and there would be no material

impact on the Group’s equity.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from the risk of
counterparties defaulting on the terms of their
agreements. The carrying amounts of cash and bank
balances and trade and bills receivables and other
receivables represent the Group’s maximum exposure

to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

The Company is also exposed to credit risk through
the granting of a financial guarantee, further details
of which are disclosed in note 27 to the financial

statements.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The Group monitors the exposure to credit risk on an
ongoing basis, and credit evaluations are performed
on customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's
exposure to bad debts is not significant. The credit
risk on balances of cash and bank balances is low as
those balances are placed with reputable financial

institutions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
certain concentration of credit risk as over 54%
(2010: 37%) of the Group’s trade receivables were

due from the Group'’s five customers.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and bills
receivables are disclosed in note 18 to the financial

statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the use of interest-bearing bank borrowings and
trade finance facilities. The Group’s financing
activities are managed centrally by maintaining
an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to
finance the Group’s operations. The Group also
ensures the availability of bank credit facilities to

address any short term funding requirements.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. MK EBEEEEREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) nBELRAR (B)
The maturity profile of the Group’s and the REBRARGIZEHRMBNREER
Company’s financial liabilities as at the end of the AENERAERNREARNIBER

reporting period, based on contractual undiscounted RN

payments, is as follows:

Group KEE
2011
—E——fF
3to 12
Less than months
3 months =EAE Total
=ZEAR t=EAR Hmct
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FHET FHET FHET
Trade payables [ET & 5518 513 15 528
Financial liabilities included FFAEBKETS - Hit
in deposits received, FE T 30IE K FEET
other payables and accruals BENEMEE 13,323 - 13,323
Interest-bearing bank STRERITEE
borrowings 62,899 - 62,899
76,735 15 76,750
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT M MHEEBREEBERERERE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) nBELRAR (B)
2010
ZE-ZF
3to 12
Less than months
3 months =EAE Total
=ZEAR t=EAR Hmt
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FHET FHET FHET
Trade payables [ET & 558 27,069 3 27,072
Financial liabilities included FFAEBKETS - Hit
in deposits received, FE T 30IE K FEET
other payables and accruals BENEMEE 8,113 - 8,113
Interest-bearing bank STRERITEE
borrowings 96,782 - 96,782
131,964 3 131,967
Company P NN
2011 2010
—B-—-F —E-FF
Less than Less than
3 months 3 months
=Z@EAR =EAR
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FERT FHET
Accruals EstafE 6 32
Amount due to a subsidiary XN NEIE ] = 23,223
Guarantee given to a bank in connection FiH B A B EXEEE
with a facility granted to a subsidiary AR ITHE H R 62,899 96,782
62,905 120,037
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

35.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes of the
Group’s capital management policy for managing
capital during the years ended 31 March 2011 and
31 March 2010.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by the adjusted equity
plus net debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing
bank borrowings, trade payables and other payables
less cash and bank balances. Capital represents
equity attributable to ordinary equity holders of the

Company.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors of the

Company on 13 June 2011.
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